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Results for Announcement to the Market
In USD$ (Unless otherwise noted). 

Revenue from continuing operations Down 8.2% To $27,560,000 

Profit before tax (PBT) Down    9.8%    To    $5,179,000 

Profit for the period attributable to owners Down 40.7% To $3,262,000 

Dividends/Distributions 
Amount per security Amount per security 

Interim dividend (April 26, 2022, cents per share) AUD 2.75 - 

Final dividend (cents per share) AUD 3.25 

Earnings per Ordinary Share (Cents per Share) FY2022 
Earnings per Ordinary Share (Cents per Share) FY2021 

4.27 
7.20 

 Net Tangible Asset* Backing per Ordinary Share (Cents per Share) FY2022 12.32 

Net Tangible Asset* Backing per Ordinary Share (Cents per Share) FY2021 17.45 

Record date for determining entitlements to the final and special dividends 1 September 2022 

Payment date of the final and special dividends 10 October 2022 

*All lease right-of-use assets and related liabilities have been included

This report is based on the consolidated financial statements which have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers. The 
audit report is included within the Group’s Financial Report which accompanies this Appendix 4E. Additional Appendix 4E 
disclosure requirements can be found in the Annual Report attached, which contains the Directors’ Report (including the 
annual audited Remuneration Report), the Directors’ Declaration and the 30 June 2022 consolidated financial statements 
and accompanying notes. 
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Your Directors submit their report on the consolidated entity, consisting of Adacel Technologies Limited 
(Adacel or the Company) and the entities it controlled at the end of or during the year ending 30 June 2022. 

DIRECTORS 
The names and details of the Directors of Adacel in office during the whole of the financial year and up to the 
date of this report, unless stated otherwise, are: 

• Michael McConnell  
• Natalya Jurcheshin 
• Peter Landos 
• Silvio Salom 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
Adacel is a principal provider of air traffic management solutions and air traffic control simulation and training 
systems and services. There have been no significant changes during the year. 

OPERATING RESULTS 
The Company’s operating results for the twelve months ended 30 June 2022 and 2021, respectively, are 
summarised in the following table.  

Key Financial Measures Year ended 30 June 

USD$’000, except dividends and percentages 2022 2021 

Revenue 27,560 30,010 

Gross margin 10,842 12,030 

Gross margin % 39.3% 40.1% 

Normalized EBITDA* 7,313 7,340 

EBITDA* 6,885 7,340 

EBITDA* % 

Normalized profit before tax (PBT)* 

25.0% 

5,607 

24.5% 

5,742 

Profit before tax (PBT) 5,179 5,742 

PBT % of Revenues  18.8% 19.1% 

Net profit after tax 3,262 5,500 

Earnings per share (cents) 4.27 7.20 

Net cash 1,898 8,719 

Final dividend (unfranked) (cents) AUD3.25 AUD3.25 

Total interim dividend (unfranked) (cents) AUD2.75 AUD2.75 

Total dividend (cents)  AUD6.00 AUD6.00 
 

*EBITDA stands for Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization. 
Normalized EBITDA and Normalized profit-before-tax (PBT) are non-IFRS measures and are presented to provide users with additional insight into the Company’s 
business and to facilitate incremental understanding of the Company’s underlying financial performance. Non-IFRS information is not audited. 
Normalized EBITDA and normalized PBT excludes acquisition and integration costs of $428,000, noted in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. 

 
For the year ended 30 June 2022, the Company delivered a normalized profit before tax (PBT) of $5.6 million, 
which is comparable to FY2021 PBT of $5.7 million and in-line with expectations. 
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PBT for FY2022 stood at $5.2 million, compared to $5.7 million for FY2021. The decrease was mainly due to lower 
gross margin achieved as a result of lower revenues, partially offset by lower expenses stemming from cost 
containment efforts. In addition, net COVID-19 related government grants recorded by Adacel in 2022 totalled 
$1.1 million, compared to $1.9 million in 2021. 

The Company delivered revenues of $27.6 million, 
compared to $30.0 million in the previous year. The 
decrease in revenues stemmed mainly from the 
Company’s Systems segment where we delivered fewer 
systems when compared to the previous year. 

In line with the decrease in revenues, Adacel recorded a 
lower gross margin of $10.8 million in FY2022, compared 
to $12.0 million in FY2021. The gross margin includes 
allocations of overhead and other fixed costs. 

In FY2022, Adacel’s normalized EBITDA stood at $7.3 
million, in line with FY2021.  

The Company’s net profit after tax in FY2022 stood at $3.3 
million, compared to $5.5 million in FY2021. The decrease was mainly attributable to a non-cash increase in 
income tax expense of approximately $1.7 million resulting from timing differences primarily relating to 
movements in the recognition of Canadian investment tax credits. 

As of 30 June 2022, the Company’s net cash balance was $1.9 million, compared to $8.7 million at FY2021 year-
end. During FY2022, the company paid $2.6 million (€2.5 million) in connection with the acquisition of a Virtual 
Air Traffic Control (ATC) Tower business and its related intellectual property and paid a total of $3.3 million in 
dividends to its shareholders (FY2021: $2.4 million). 

BUSINESS SEGMENT REPORTING 

Systems 
The Systems segment represents sales of integrated software systems and products covering operational air 
traffic management as well as simulation and training applications. This segment also includes hardware and 
software sales.  

Services 
The Services segment includes all recurring revenue, including software maintenance and all aspects of 
system support, field services, and on-site technical services.   

In FY2022, Adacel’s normalized EBITDA 
stood at $7.3 million, in line with FY2021. 
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Segment Performance 

The Company’s business segment performance is summarised as follows: 

Segment performance Year ended 30 June 

USD $’000, except 
percentages 

2022 2021 

 Revenue 
 

GM GM% Revenue GM GM % 

 
Systems 

 
6,912 

 
758 

 
11.0% 

 
9,196 

 
1,122 

 
12.2% 

 
Services 

 
20,648 

 
10,084 

 
48.8% 

 
20,814 

 
10,908 

 
52.4% 

 
Total 

 
27,560 

 
10,842 

 
39.3% 

 
30,010 

 
12,030 

 
40.1% 

 

FY2022 Revenue Per Segment 

 

During FY2022, revenues in our Systems segment decreased to $6.9 million from $9.2 million in FY2021. During 
FY2021, we delivered a significant number of Air Traffic Control Simulators (ACS) units to the US Army via 
General Dynamics. 

Systems related revenues, due to their core nature, can be subject to significant fluctuations year over year. 

As a result of the lower revenues, gross margin, in terms of both dollars and percentage, were also lower in 
FY2022, compared to FY2021.  

The Company’s revenues from services remained stable year over year, coming in at $20.6 million. Gross margin, 
in dollars and percentage, for FY2022 were lower, compared to FY2021, mainly due to a less favourable revenue 
mix. 

 

74.9%

25.1%
FY2021 - 30.6%

FY2021 - 69.4%

Systems

Services
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Overall, Systems revenues and Services revenues represented 25.1% and 74.9% of total revenues, respectively, 
in FY2022, compared to 30.6% and 69.4% in FY2021. 

FY2022 Revenue by Geographical Presence 

The revenues from international customers increased in FY2022 and represented 27.3% of total revenues, 
compared to 24.8% for the prior year. The revenues from the North American customers accounted for 72.7% 
of Adacel’s total revenues, a decrease from 75.2% in FY2021. In FY2022, revenues from civil customers made up 
77.8% of total revenues compared to 64.8% for the preceding year while revenues from military sources 
accounted for 22.2% compared to 35.2% last year. 

OPERATING PERFORMANCE 

Systems 
Adacel’s Systems segment revenues decreased from $9.2 million in FY2021 to $6.9 million in FY2022. ATC 
Systems accounted for 11.2% of the Company’s revenues, down from 18.2% in FY2021. The decrease was mainly 
as a result of the General Dynamics’ order for additional Air Traffic Control Simulators (ACS) units to the US 
Army delivered in FY2021. 

ATM Systems revenues accounted for 13.7% of total revenues in FY2022, compared to 12.1% in FY2021, and 
amounted to $3.8 million in revenues, compared to $3.6 million in FY2021, a 4.4% increase year-over-year. We 
completed the delivery of the system in Guadeloupe and are now working on multiple ATM system deliveries 
in Martinique, Seychelles, and Saint Lucia arising from contract wins during the year. 

Systems related revenues, due to their core nature, can be subject to significant fluctuations year over year. 

Gross margin, as a percentage of revenues, was 11.0% for FY2022, compared to 12.2% in FY2021. The change, 
when compared to the previous year, is due to the revenue mix and the timing of certain milestones. 

72.7%

27.3%

FY2021 - 75.2%

FY2021 - 24.8%

North America 

 

 

International 
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Services 
In the Services segment, revenues remained stable in FY 2022, at $20.6 million compared to $20.8 million in 
FY2021. The Advanced Technologies and Oceanic Procedures contract (ATOP) continues to be a significant 
contributor to the services segment. ATM services revenues accounted for 50.0% of consolidated revenues in 
FY2022, compared to 48.9% last year. The ATC services revenues accounted for 24.7% of FY2022 consolidated 
revenues, up from 20.5% in FY2021. As we have for the past 21 years, we continue to work closely with Leidos 
and the FAA to ensure the successful sustainment and enhancement of ATOP. The contract was renewed in 
early FY2022 for 12 years (the sub-contract, comprising one base year and eleven option years was extended 
on substantially the same terms). 

Financial Position 
The Company’s net assets decreased by 5.5%, compared with the previous year. The decrease was attributable 
to the current year’s profit after tax being offset by dividends paid during the year, and a year over year 
unfavourable impact of foreign exchange on translation of foreign operations.  

The Company’s receivables and cash flow management continue to support overall strength in working capital. 
The decrease in cash and cash equivalents year-over-year was mainly attributable to cash disbursed for the 

ATM Systems
13.7%

ATC 
Systems

11.2%

ATM Services
50.0%

ATC 
Services

24.7%

Other Services
0.2%

Other Systems
0.2%

Systems
25.1%

Services
74.9%

FY2022 Revenue Per Segment & Product 



ADACEL TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED  //  ANNUAL REPORT 2022 

 

8  //  ADACEL ANNUAL REPORT  30 JUNE 2022 

acquisition of the virtual towers business intellectual property (IP), and processing delays of governmental R&D 
programs/income tax related receivables.  We expect these refunds to be received in FY2023. 

Trade & other payables remained relatively stable when comparing year over year. 

TAX  
Adacel has carry-forward tax losses and credits available in various jurisdictions to offset future taxable profits. 
At 30 June 2022, reflecting the Board’s and management’s confidence in future profitability, the Company has 
a net deferred tax asset of $1.4 million (FY2021: $2.7 million) relating to available tax credits.  The movements in 
the recognition of these tax credits have primarily contributed to the net tax expense for the year ended 30 
June 2022. Tax credits continue to be recognised and utilised in accordance with the Company’s policy and 
applicable accounting standards. 

COVID-19 SUPPORT  
During the fiscal year 2022, the Company recorded approximately $1.1 million in net COVID-19 relief aid in other 
income (FY2021 – approximately $1.9 million). The Company believes that it has adhered to all required 
conditions with regards to funds received under the various COVID-19 programs provided by government 
entities in the countries in which it operates. The Company does not anticipate any additional aid in FY2023. 

ACQUISITION OF A VIRTUAL ATC TOWER BUSINESS  
On 23 February 2022, Adacel announced the acquisition of the virtual air traffic control tower business for single 
and multiple aerodrome operations from Cybernetica, an Estonian-based entity, for cash consideration of €2.5 
million. The transaction closed on April 29, 2022. 

The acquisition, comprising mainly of intellectual property (IP), accelerates Adacel’s entrance into one of the 
fastest-growing market segments of the global air traffic control market. The global virtual towers market is 
projected to grow from USD$0.3 billion in 2022 to USD$0.6 billion by 2027, at a CAGR of 19.6% from 2022 to 2027.  

Built on modular, open architecture principles, the tower is suitable for a variety of functional needs, including 
integration with existing or new air traffic management, communications, navigation, and surveillance 
systems.  

This new business unit operates out of Tallinn, Estonia. The team is currently working in close partnership with 
the customer, EANS (Estonian Air Navigation Services) to execute on its current contractual obligations.   

The transition and integration of the new business unit in Tallinn, including IT systems and relocation to the 
new office, has gone according to plan. The new virtual tower system, REVAL, made its debut at the WATM 
2022 Congress in June 2022, where the Company demonstrated it to several potential new customers. While 
Adacel continues its outreach efforts to the existing and new prospective customers, the plan is for the 
Company to ramp up the go-to-market proposition by the end of December 2022.  
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DIVIDENDS 
The Board has declared a final dividend of AUD3.25 cents per share, unfranked. The total dividend declared for 
the year of AUD6.00 cents per share, is the same as for FY2021. The dividend will have a Record Date of 1 
September 2022 and will be paid on 10 October 2022.  

KEY RISKS AND BUSINESS CHALLENGES 

COVID-19 Pandemic Risk Factors Mitigation 
Throughout FY2022, we continued to operate based on our Company’s Disaster Recovery Plan as the majority 
of the Adacel team telecommuted. The Board of Directors and Adacel’s Executive Team, charged with 
overseeing the Company’s health during this unique crisis, continued with its adopted mitigation strategies to 
ensure the well-being of our employees while meeting our commitments to Adacel’s customers and 
shareholders.  

COVID-19 continues to be a global risk, even though 
the vaccines became more accessible worldwide: the 
more contagious variants combined with 
unvaccinated population still pose a health and 
economic risk. However, in the last six months or so, 
we have observed a steady return to normalcy, with 
trade shows resuming, mask mandates and travel 
testing requirements removed, and a surging 
demand for air travel, despite much higher prices. 
We foresee the COVID-19 pandemic to continue to 
affect our operations, but to a much lesser degree, as 
businesses adjust to a new normal.  

Business Risks 
Adacel operates in a highly regulated, safety critical environment and plays a significant role in aviation security. 
The Company provides mission-crucial software for air traffic management systems and important training 
and simulation tools used in air traffic controllers training, for both civil and military organisations. Adacel also 
provides a broad suite of services to assist its customers and global aviation authorities in delivering high levels 
of safety and efficiency for global air travel. All our systems and services must meet stringent government and 
aviation requirements related to accuracy, efficiency, and reliability.  

Below are the key risks for Adacel that we are closely monitoring and mitigating.  

• Existing customer retention – Over the years, Adacel has been very successful at maintaining and 
solidifying its customer relationships, recently having celebrated 20 years of extensive and significant 
collaboration with two major customers. In FY2022, the Company executed several long-term contract 
renewals and/or extensions, a nod of recognition of the value customers see in Adacel. The Company 
continues to work with its existing customers to deliver solutions that address challenges today and 
the future. Although in FY2023 there are no major contract expirations, Adacel remains vigilant in 
monitoring the threat of competition and agile to meeting new customer demands to mitigate any 
potential loss of market share. 

• Expanding customer base and market share - Adacel is very successful at maintaining long-term 
customer relationships. At the same time, it is critical for the Company’s organic growth and long-term 
success to expand its customer base and win new customers across its Business Units. With the new 
re-organization, a re-focussed Business Development team and the recent acquisition of Virtual ATC 

We foresee the COVID-19 pandemic to 
continue to affect our operations, but to a 
much lesser degree, as businesses adjust to 
a new normal. 
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tower business/IP the Company is confident in expanding its customer base, including new 
geographic markets, in FY2023 and beyond. 

• Product development – On an ongoing basis, Adacel adapts and proactively drives change across all 
its business areas. During FY2022, the Company continued to invest in product development to 
protect its revenues from existing customers and win new business. The product development 
roadmaps across its Business Units are developed based on market intelligence data, ranging from 
industry organizations guidelines and observed market trends to employee expert solutions and 
customer feedback. 

• Talent attraction and retention – The job market continues to remain very competitive. Attracting new 
talent while retaining the existing one is increasingly difficult. As such, the company has implemented 
a range of internal initiatives to maintain our expertise and competitive advantage. Along with the 
revitalization of its mission, vision, and values, Adacel has delivered on its ongoing performance 
management approach and continues to operate in a hybrid working environment. The company 
continues to launch internal initiatives with the goal of elevating workplace experience and employee 
engagement. In addition, Adacel has prioritised talent attraction and retention as part of its executive 
management reviews.  

• Major global events – While Adacel continues to deliver strong performances during and post-peak 
pandemic environments, it cannot ignore external market forces that impact the aviation market. The 
Company continues to monitor all geopolitical activities and, where applicable and appropriate, has 
continuity plans in place. 

 
The Company remains well-placed under the leadership of its Chief Executive Officer, Daniel Verret.  
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SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS  
Aside from the virtual ATC tower acquisition, there were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of 
the Company during the period. 

STRATEGIC ACTIVITIES AND OUTLOOK 
In FY2022, Adacel re-organized its operations and strategic activities into five sub-segments: 

• Air traffic control simulation and training 
• Air traffic management 
• Virtual air traffic control 
• Operational services 
• Other technical services 

The goals of this renewed approach to the Company’s 
operations include: 

• Enhancing customer experience and 
satisfaction 

• Improving project delivery performance 
• Increasing win probability of new and existing 

customer contracts 
• Raising employee awareness, empowerment, 

and accountability 

Air traffic control simulation and training 
The demand for air traffic simulation and training services has been significantly altered by the global 
pandemic. The need for remote learning, cloud-based services, and innovative technology to deliver training 
solutions has skyrocketed in recent years. Adacel is leading the market with the adoption of new technology 
to meet these new demands. At recent industry events, the Company has successfully demonstrated 
developments in the adoption of virtual and augmented reality devices and is fully committed to meeting the 
demand for air traffic control training availability from anywhere, anytime.  

MaxSim remains a leading, highly configurable, and a high-performance air traffic simulation solution. Its 
versatile capabilities enable Adacel to evolve the system with the goal of meeting these new, market-
redefining demands. One of the most notable developments includes AeroScene, the new image generation 
technology for air traffic tower simulations. A highly immersive visual environment, AeroScene allows Adacel 
to get closer to its goal of providing next generation training solutions for current and future customers. In 

Adacel’s mission : Leverage our industry 
expertise with the infinite potential of 
technology to advance safety and efficiency 
in aviation. 
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addition, Adacel is closely monitoring several high-profile opportunities with key customers and prospects that 
are expected to either tender or close in FY2023 and FY2024.  

Air traffic management (ATM) 
Aurora ATM solution is uniquely placed to provide oceanic, procedural, and mixed surveillance airspace control. 
Existing contract deliveries to Fiji, Seychelles, and DSNA France will continue into FY2023, while the Company 
develops new functionalities and capabilities. Opportunities for growth for Adacel include investment in 
extensive surveillance data processing, arrival and departure management, and advanced surface movement 
and ground control. Adacel is currently looking for partnerships to meet these growth demands. Opportunities 
will be assessed on a case-by-case basis to maximise compliance with customer needs to determine whether 
third party integration is better suited over in-house development. We expect that the Company will secure a 
new customer for Aurora in FY2023 and in FY2024. 

Virtual air traffic control 
In a major strategic move for the company, Adacel entered the virtual air traffic control market in April 2022, 
with the acquisition of a virtual ATC system, later named REVAL. The virtual air traffic control market segment, 
which is also known as digital or remote ATC towers market, is one of the fastest growing segments in the 
global air traffic control market. In close partnership with Estonian Air Navigation Services (EANS), Adacel is 
currently working on completing the second delivery of REVAL. Building on this partnership, Adacel is closely 
collaborating with EANS to meet its vision of digitizing all regional airports in Estonia by 2025. Ongoing 
partnership activities include the expansion of the single aerodrome virtual tower operations and the 
development of a multi-tower virtual control centre. Expansion in this market segment is expected through 
existing Adacel customers and winning business from new customers, as more military and civil providers of 
air traffic control move away from the traditional air traffic control tower to a virtual environment.  
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Operational services 
The Operational Services Business Unit delivers 
support and maintenance to existing Adacel 
customers. In recent years, the Company has 
significantly re-focussed its efforts on elevating 
customer experience, by consistently raising 
employee awareness about the importance of 
customer experience, running bi-annual customer 
satisfaction surveys, taking action on survey findings, 
developing new processes, implementing new touch 
points to improve customer experience, and 
launching new initiatives through the company’s new 
working group, CORE. The CORE working group 
focuses exclusively on customer touch points and process improvements with the primary goal of elevating 
the Company’s customers’ experience with its systems and team members. Adacel’s team is fully committed 
to evolving the Company into a more customer-centric organization.  

Other technical services 
Through its U.S.-based, wholly owned subsidiary, Adacel Technical Services (ATS), Adacel continues to provide 
air traffic control instructional services on its customer sites. Due to its industry heritage and business networks, 
the Company is uniquely positioned to recruit and place highly skilled air traffic control instructors in the field 
and expects to grow this business area with onsite maintenance during FY2023 and FY2024. 

FY2023 Financial Outlook 
For FY2023, the Company anticipates EBITDA of between $6.7 million and $7.2 million and PBT of between 
$4.5 million and $5.0 million. At this time, we do not expect to incur any additional non-recurring expenses. 

This includes plans to accelerate investments in our product functions and features as well as increased 
business development activities to target very specific opportunities that are expected to be awarded in the 
next 18-24 months.  In addition, we see tremendous potential in the medium to long-term with our Virtual ATC 
Tower solution. 

MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR  
There were no significant events after the balance sheet date. 

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION 
If required, at each Directors’ meeting the Chief Executive Officer reports to the Board about any 
environmental and regulatory issues. There are no matters that the Board considers need to be stated in this 
report. 

GREENHOUSE GAS AND ENERGY DATA REPORTING REQUIREMENTS  
The Group is not subject to the reporting requirements of either the Energy Efficiency Opportunities Act 2006 
or the National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007. 

 

Adacel’s vision : To be the foremost 
authority and trusted partner for the 
global air traffic community. 
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INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MICHAEL MCCONNELL BA (HARVARD), MBA (VIRGINIA)  

Non-Executive Chairman 

Mr McConnell joined the Board as an Independent Non-executive Director on 1 May 
2017 and was appointed Chairman on 1 April 2019. He is an experienced Director and 
private investor who is currently a Non-executive Director of QuikFee, Liquiglide, 
Jacob Stern & Sons Inc. and One-Span, and Chairman-US of Thorney Investments 
Limited. Previously, he was the Managing Director of Shamrock Capital Advisors. In 
addition, Michael is serving on numerous public and private company boards in the 
United States of America, Australia, New Zealand, Israel, and Ireland. He has 
experience across a variety of Industries, including media, entertainment, enterprise 
software, radio broadcasting, cable distribution, basic materials, chemicals, e-
commerce, and consumer products. 

Interests in Shares and Options: 
1,250,000 ordinary shares in Adacel Technologies Limited. 

Nil options over ordinary shares in Adacel Technologies Limited. 

 

NATALYA JURCHESHIN B.COMM, CA (AUST AND NZ)  
Non-Executive Director 

Ms Jurcheshin joined the Board as an Independent Non-executive Director on 7 
October 2016 and is the Chair of the Audit and Risk Management Committee. Natalya 
is a senior financial leader with a breadth and depth of experience in managing, 
improving, and growing finance functions of companies and playing an instrumental 
part in their strategic growth. She has over 25 years’ experience in finance roles, 
including over 10 years in the audit and assurance practice at Arthur Andersen (now 
part of Ernst & Young), working with clients in a wide variety of industries in Australia 
and in Eastern Europe. She has 12 years’ experience as a Chief Financial Officer with 
ASX listed biotech Circadian Technologies Limited (10 years) and the Melbourne 
Symphony Orchestra (2 years). Natalya does not currently hold and has not held 
directorships in other listed companies at any time in the 3 years immediately before 
the end of the financial year. 

Interests in Shares and Options: 
Nil ordinary shares in Adacel Technologies Limited. 

Nil options over ordinary shares in Adacel Technologies Limited. 

 



ADACEL TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED  //  ANNUAL REPORT 2022 

15  //  ADACEL ANNUAL REPORT  30 JUNE 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PETER LANDOS BECO (ANU) 
Non-Executive Director 

Mr Landos was appointed as a Non-executive Director on 26 February 2009, was the 
Chairman from 16 November 2012 until 1 April 2019 and is Chair of the Remuneration 
Committee. Peter is the Chief Operating Officer of the Thorney Investment Group of 
companies with whom he has worked since September 2000, having previously 
worked at Macquarie Bank Limited. Peter has extensive business and corporate 
experience specialising in advising boards and management in mergers and 
acquisitions, divestments, business restructurings and capital markets. Peter is also a 
Non-executive Director of Gale Pacific Limited and Rural Press Pty Limited. 

Interests in Shares and Options: 
Nil ordinary shares in Adacel Technologies Limited. 

Nil options over ordinary shares in Adacel Technologies Limited. 

SILVIO SALOM B ENG 
Non-Executive Director 

Mr Salom was the Managing Director of Adacel Technologies Limited from 
incorporation in October 1997 until 16 June 2006, and Non-executive Director since 
that date. Mr. Salom was the founder and Managing Director of the predecessor 
Adacel Pty Ltd from establishment in 1987. Silvio has extensive experience in the 
strategic and operational management of hi-tech companies with particular 
expertise in information technology related to the manufacturing, environmental, 
defence, transport, multimedia and telecommunications industry sectors. Silvio is a 
director in a number of private and public companies, however, he does not currently 
hold and has not held directorships in other listed companies at any time in the 3 
years immediately before the end of the financial year. 

Interests in Shares and Options: 
5,195,191 ordinary shares in Adacel Technologies Limited. 

Nil options over ordinary shares in Adacel Technologies Limited. 

 

REBECCA WEIR 
Company Secretary 

Rebecca is an employee of Boardroom Pty Limited (the Company’s Corporate 
Secretarial provider) and is the appointed Company Secretary for a number of 
Companies, including ASX listed, private unlisted, and smaller private start-up 
companies. Rebecca has a Bachelor of Laws Degree (LLB) from Keele University (UK) 
and has detailed knowledge of regulatory requirements, including ASIC and the ASX 
as well as best practices in Corporate Governance. Rebecca has completed the 
Graduate Diploma in Applied Corporate Governance and Risk Management and was 
awarded the Victorian Dux award (best in class) in Corporate Governance. Rebecca is 
an Associate Member of the Governance Institute of Australia (AGIA) and an Affiliated 
Member of the Chartered Governance Institute (ACGI).  
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MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS 
The numbers of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors and of each Board committee held during the 
year and the number of meetings attended by each Director or their alternate were as follows: 

   

Meetings of Directors 

Meetings of committees 

Directors Audit and Risk 
Management 

Remuneration 

  Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended 

Michael McConnell 8 8 4 4 3 3 

Natalya Jurcheshin 8 8 4 4 3 3 

Peter Landos 8 7 4 2 * 2 

Silvio Salom 8 8 4 4 3 2 

*Denotes that the Director was not a member of the relevant committee although all directors may attend any committee 
meeting. 

At the date of this report, the Company has an Audit and Risk Management Committee and a Remuneration 
Committee of the Board of Directors.  

The current members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee are Natalya Jurcheshin, Michael 
McConnell, Peter Landos and Silvio Salom. The Chair of the Audit and Risk Management Committee is Natalya 
Jurcheshin. 

The current members of the Remuneration Committee are Natalya Jurcheshin, Michael McConnell, and Silvio 
Salom. The Chair of the Remuneration Committee is Natalya Jurcheshin. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT 
The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings: 

A. Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 

B. Details of remuneration 

C. Service agreements 

D. Share-based compensation 

The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

A. PRINCIPLES USED TO DETERMINE THE NATURE AND AMOUNT OF REMUNERATION  
The Adacel Board has determined policies in relation to the remuneration of directors and executives as 
follows: 

Non-executive Directors 
Non-executive Directors are remunerated by fixed annual fees, superannuation, and from time-to-time may 
also be issued share options or equity in place of higher cash fees. 

The level of annual Directors' fees is reviewed by the 
Remuneration Committee and the Board, 
considering several factors, including the range of 
Directors' fees paid in the market, and the Company's 
costs and operating performance. The maximum 
total payable to Directors for Directors’ Fees is 
approved from time to time by shareholders in 
general meeting and was last set at AUD$500,000 
per annum at the 2013 Annual General Meeting. At 
the 17 November 2021 AGM, 98.63% of the votes 
received supported the adoption of the 
remuneration report for the year ended 30 June 2021. 
The Company did not receive any specific feedback at the AGM regarding its remuneration practices. 

Based on the Company's size and resources, from time-to-time, non-executive Directors may also be issued 
options or equity as part of their remuneration in place of a higher cash fee. Options or equity would be issued 
after consideration by the Remuneration Committee and the Board and are subject to shareholder approval 
at a general meeting.  

Senior Executives 
Under the Company's constitution, remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer or equivalent position, subject 
to other provisions in any contract between the executive and the Company, may be by fixed salary or 
participation in the profits of the Company and not be by commission on or percentage of operating revenue. 
Other senior executives are remunerated by fixed salary and performance-based bonuses. Remuneration 
packages will generally be set to be competitive to both retain executives and attract experienced executives 
to the Company. 

Where packages comprise a fixed element and variable incentive components, the variable components will 
depend on the Company’s and/or personal performance. Short-term incentives may include annual cash 

At the 17 November 2021 AGM, 98.63% 
of the votes received supported the 
adoption of the remuneration report 
for the year ended 30 June 2022. 
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incentives on meeting specific performance criteria agreed upon at Board level. The amount of the incentive 
will depend upon the extent that the measure is exceeded. 

To provide long-term incentives, senior executives may also participate in the Executive Share Option and 
Performance Rights Plan. The options and performance rights are issued with conditions linked to specific 
vesting conditions tied to the financial performance of the Company over the vesting period.  

Short-Term Incentives 
For several executives in the consolidated entity, an element of their remuneration may be based upon annual 
bonuses, usually dependent on the satisfaction of various performance conditions. For the year ended 30 June 
2022, the Board approved short-term incentives for these executives as shown in Section B below based on 
quantitative and qualitative performance factors in accordance with the provisions of the short-term incentive 
plan. The following table compares earnings and all bonuses paid or accrued over the past five years. 

YEAR Profit Before Tax 

$’000’s  

Profit After Tax 

$’000’s  

Range of 
Share Price 

 

Bonus 
Earned 

 

Ordinary Dividend 
Declared (per share) 

 $ $ AUD$ $’000’s AUD Cents 

2018 7,251 5,866 1.69 to 3.09 490 4.5 

2019 (1,148) (1,682) 0.40 to 1.66 - 1.0 

2020 1,553 2,542 0.30 to 0.84 51 2.5 

2021 5,742 5,500 0.43 to 1.01 128 6.0 

2022 5,179 3,262 0.80 to 1.40 - 6.0 

Long-Term Incentives  
For a number of the executives in the consolidated entity, at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee, 
an element of their remuneration may be by way of participating in the Executive Share Option and 
Performance Rights Plan. Share options and performance rights are subject to performance conditions.  In 
certain circumstances there may be an issue for retention purposes which are subject to continuous 
employment. Exercise prices of options are also set to ensure that employees will benefit by exercising their 
options if there has been a rise in the share price. The Executive Share Option and Performance Rights Plan is 
described in Note 36 and is summarised in Section D below. 

Benefits 
Executives receive benefits including health insurance and disability insurance. 

B. DETAILS OF REMUNERATION 

Amounts of remuneration 
Details of the nature and amount of each element of the emoluments of each Director of Adacel Technologies 
Limited, the key management personnel (as defined in AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures) and specified 
executives of the Group are set out in the following tables. 
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The key management personnel of the Group were the directors of Adacel Technologies Limited (see pages 
14-15) in addition to:

• Daniel Verret, the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO). Mr Verret held the
CFO position through October 24, 2021

• Mauro Ferrara, Chief Financial Officer (effective October 25, 2021)
• Kevin Pickett, the Vice President, Operations
• Michael Saunders, the Vice President, Business Development and Strategy

2022 EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 

2022 | In USD$ Short-term employee benefits 

Post-
employment

benefits Other 

Share-
based 

payments 

Name 
Cash salary 

and fees 
Cash 

bonus 
Non 

monetary* Other 

Super- 

annuation 
Termination 

benefits 
Rights & 
Options    Total 

Non-executive Directors 

Michael McConnell (Chairman) 68,941 - - - 21,062 - - 90,003 

Peter Landos** 36,285 - - - 3,629 - - 39,914 

Natalya Jurcheshin 44,752 - - - 4,475 - - 49,227 

Silvio Salom 36,285 - - - 3,629 - - 39,914 

Sub-total: Non-exec Directors 186,263 - - - 32,795 - - 219,058 

Other Key Management 

Daniel Verret 323,982 - 23,352 - 6,997 - - 354,331 

Kevin Pickett 185,100 - 27,694 - 9,822 - - 222,616 

Michael Saunders 194,304 - 34,225 - 9,715 - 29,456 267,700 

Mauro Ferrara*** 146,029 - - - - - - 146,029 

Sub-total: Other Key 
Management 

849,415 - 85,271 - 26,534 - 29,456 990,676 

Total Key Management 
Personnel Compensation 

1,035,678 - 85,271 - 59,329 - 29,456 1,209,734 

*Non-monetary benefits include medical, dental, short-term and long-term disability insurance, life & AD&D insurance, car and phone
allowances, employer National Insurance Contribution (NIC), Health Savings Account (HSA) contributions. 
** Cash Salary and Fees paid to TIGA Trading Pty Ltd. 
***Mauro Ferrara joined Adacel on 25 October 2021. 
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2021 EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL  

*Non-monetary benefits include medical, dental, short-term and long-term disability insurance, life & AD&D insurance, car and phone 
allowances, employer National Insurance Contribution (NIC), Health Savings Account (HSA) contributions. 
** Cash Salary and Fees paid to TIGA Trading Pty Ltd.;  
***Michael Saunders joined Adacel on 3 May 2021. 

2021 | In USD$ Short-term employee benefits 

Post-
employment 

benefits Other 

Share-
based 

payments  

Name 
Cash salary 

and fees 
Cash 

bonus 
Non 

monetary* Other 

Super- 

annuation 
Termination 

benefits 
Rights & 
Options    Total 

Non-executive Directors         

Michael McConnell (Chairman) 71,003 - - - 20,325 - - 91,328 

Peter Landos** 37,370 - - - 3,550 - - 40,920 

Natalya Jurcheshin 44,844 - - - 4,260 - - 49,104 

Silvio Salom 37,370 - - - 3,550 - - 40,920 

Sub-total: Non-exec Directors 190,587 - - - 31,685 - - 222,272 

Other Key Management         

Daniel Verret 319,613 88,819 21,351 - 14,495 - 150,115 594,393 

Kevin Pickett 185,100 39,677 21,083  9,250 - 106,579 361,689 

Michael Saunders*** 34,014 - 4,420 - - - - 38,434 

Sub-total: Other Key Management 538,727 128,496 46,854 - 23,745 - 256,694 994,516 

Total Key Management Personnel 
Compensation 

729,314 128,496 46,854 - 55,430 - 256,694 1,216,788 
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C. SERVICE AGREEMENTS 
Remuneration and other terms of employment for the key management personnel are formalised in service 
agreements. The major provisions of the agreements relating to remuneration are set out below. 

Daniel Verret (Chief Executive Officer) 
• Terms of agreement - Two-year fixed-term agreement was executed on 15 April 2022.  
• Base salary, superannuation, automobile allowance, and medical/health insurance benefits for the year 

ended 30 June 2022 of $354,331. This equates to 100% of his total earnings.  
• Payment of termination benefit on early termination by the employer, other than for cause, equal to 

12 months’ base salary. 
• There is a contractual provision for performance-related and discretionary cash bonuses as 

determined by the Board. An amount of $nil has been accrued for the year ended 30 June 2022. This 
equates to 0% of his total earnings. 

• Participation, when eligible, in the Executive Share Option and Performance Rights Plan. During fiscal 
year 2020, Mr. Verret received a grant of 402,000 options and 223,000 performance rights. They vested 
on August 12, 2021. An amount of $0 was recognized during the year. This equates to 0% of his total 
earnings. 

Kevin Pickett (Vice President, Operations) 
• Term of agreement - No fixed term. 
• Base salary, superannuation and medical/health insurance benefits for the year ended 30 June 2022 

of $222,616. This equates to 100% of his total earnings. 
• There is no defined contractual obligation to provide a benefit upon termination of employment, 

however, payment of early termination benefits, other than for cause, would be based on industry 
standards. 

• There is no contractual provision for performance-related cash bonuses. However, Mr. Pickett is eligible 
for performance-related cash bonuses as determined by the Board. An amount of $nil has been 
accrued for the year ended 30 June 2022. This equates to 0% of his total earnings. 

• Participation, when eligible, in the Executive Share Option and Performance Rights Plan. During fiscal 
year 2020, Mr. Pickett received a grant of 286,000 options and 158,000 performance rights. They vested 
on August 12, 2021. An amount of $0 was recognized during the year. This equates to 0% of his total 
earnings. 

Michael Saunders (Vice President, Business Development and Strategy) 
• Term of agreement - No fixed term. 
• Base salary, superannuation and medical/health insurance benefits for the year ended 30 June 2022 

of $238,244. This equates to 89% of his total earnings.  
• There is no defined contractual obligation to provide a benefit upon termination of employment, 

however, payment of early termination benefits, other than for cause, would be based on industry 
standards. 

• There is no contractual provision for performance-related cash bonuses. However, Mr. Saunders is 
eligible for performance-related cash bonuses as determined by the Board. An amount of $nil has 
been accrued for the year ended 30 June 2022. This equates to 0% of his total earnings. 

• Participation, when eligible, in the Executive Share Option and Performance Rights Plan. During fiscal 
year 2022, Mr. Saunders received a grant of 100,000 performance rights. They are vesting over time, 
based on the vesting condition of continuous employment until 30 June 2024. An amount of $29,456 
was recognized during the year. This equates to 11% of his total earnings. 
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Mauro Ferrara (Chief Financial Officer) – started October 25, 2021 
• Term of agreement: first agreement: October 25, 2021 – May 3, 2022; second agreement - May 4, 2022, 

through May 5, 2023. 
• Mr Ferrara is an independent consultant providing the services of a CFO, for a minimum of 25 hours a 

week billable at an hourly rate.  Fees for the year ended 30 June 2022 totalled to $146,029 
• Mr Ferrara is eligible to participate in an incentive of up to 20% of the billed hours (pre-tax) upon 

meeting the KPIs set by Adacel and dependent on the financial results of the Company. An amount of 
$nil has been accrued for the year ended 30 June 2022. 

Rebecca Weir (Company Secretary) 
• Term of agreement – Effective 9 October 2020.  
• Ms Weir is an employee of Boardroom Pty Limited who provides Company Secretarial services to the 

Company on an agreed monthly fee basis. 

D. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 

EXECUTIVE SHARE OPTION AND PERFORMANCE RIGHTS PLAN 
Options and performance rights may be granted under the Executive Share Option and Performance Rights 
Plan, which was approved by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting in November 2017 and 
subsequently re-approved by the shareholders (in accordance with ASX Listing Rule 7.2 and section 259A and 
section 260A Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)) at the Annual General Meeting in November 2020. Under this plan, 
Directors may issue options and performance rights to eligible employees. The Directors have the discretion 
about the number of options and performance rights to be issued and also the exercise periods and conditions 
precedent to the options and performance rights vesting. The options and performance rights are issued for 
no consideration and are not listed. Options and performance rights granted under the plan carry no dividend 
or voting rights. When exercisable, each option and performance right is convertible into one ordinary share. 
In the event of the resignation, redundancy or termination of employment of a participant in the plan, the 
options or performance rights issued under the Executive Share Option and Performance Rights Plan lapse 
immediately, unless the Directors, at their absolute discretion, determine otherwise. For the year ended 30 
June 2022, the Executive Share Option and Performance Rights Plan is described in note 36 and is summarized 
on the following page.  
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*The Performance Rights Fair Value reflects the market price the day they were granted.  
**Options Fair Value was calculated using the Black & Scholes valuation model.  
***These Performance Rights have the sole vesting condition of continuous employment until 30 June 2024. Their fair value, vesting date and 
expiry date are the same as listed above under the FY2022 LTI Rights plan.   
 

At 30 June 2022 
  

• Daniel Verret had nil options and nil performance rights that were vested and exercisable. 
• Kevin Pickett had 286,000 options and nil performance rights that were vested and exercisable. 
• Michael Saunders had nil options and nil performance rights that were vested and exercisable. 

 
 
 
 
 

LTI Rights and 
Options 

Vesting (%) 

FY2022 LTI Rights and 
Options Vesting 

Conditions 

FY2021 LTI Rights and 
Options Vesting 

Conditions 

FY2020 LTI Rights and 
Options Vesting 

Conditions 

 
Continuous Employment until 
30 June 2024 

Continuous Employment until 
30 June 2023 

Continuous Employment until 
30 June 2021 

FY2022: 75% 

(FY2020 and 
FY2021: 50%) 

An average annual growth 
rate in revenue of 10%, or 
greater, over the three years 
beginning with FY2022. 

 

 

For FY2021 the Board 
approved budgeted USD 
EBITDA; and a 10% or greater 
average annual growth rate, 
over the subsequent two 
financial years ending 30 June 
2023. 

For FY2020 an EBITDA of USD 
$4.5 million or greater; and for 
FY2021 an EBITDA 10% higher 
than the base budget 
approved by the Board or 
greater. 

FY2022: 25% 

(FY2020 and 
FY2021: 50%) 

An average annual return on 
invested capital (ROIC) of 26%, 
or greater, over the three years 
beginning with FY2022 (based 
on the audited consolidated 
financial statements). 

An average annual return on 
invested capital (ROIC) of 26%, 
or greater, over the three years 
beginning with FY2021 (based 
on the audited consolidated 
financial statements). 

An average annual return on 
invested capital (ROIC) of 26% 
over the two years FY2020 to 
FY2021 (based on the audited 
consolidated financial 
statements). 

Performance 
Rights 

Daniel Verret –          194,000 

Kevin Pickett –          106,000 

Michael Saunders – 106,000 

Total                          406,000 

Daniel Verret – 226,000 

Kevin Pickett – 135,000 

 

Total                  361,000 

Daniel Verret – 223,000 

Kevin Pickett – 158,000 

 

Total              381,000 

Performance 
Rights - other 

Michael Saunders – 100,000***  
 

Performance 
Rights Fair 
Value*  

$1.38  $0.54 
 

$0.45 

Vesting date August 2024 August 2023 August 2021 

Expiry 30 June, 2029 30 June 2028 30 June 2026 

Options No options were granted.  

Daniel Verret – 523,000 

Kevin Pickett – 312,000 

 

Total                 835,000       

Daniel Verret – 402,000 

Kevin Pickett – 286,000 

 

Total                 688,000       

Options Fair 
Value** N/A $0.23 

$0.25 

Vesting date N/A August 2023 August 2021 

Expiry N/A June 2028 June 2026 

Option Exercise       
Price 

N/A $0.54 $0.45 
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SHARES PROVIDED ON EXERCISE OF OPTIONS OR PERFORMANCE RIGHTS 

Performance Rights 
In August 2019, the Board granted 188,000 performance rights with an exercise price of nil. These performance 
rights vested on 30 April 2020 and were subsequently converted to fully paid ordinary shares in the Company 
on 1 May 2020.  

In August 2019, the Board also granted 381,000 performance rights with an exercise price of nil. These 
performance rights vested on August 12, 2021 and were subsequently converted to fully paid ordinary shares 
in the Company on August 12, 2021. 

In July 2020, the Board granted an additional 361,000 performance rights to eligible employees. These 
performance rights have an exercise price of nil and will vest subject to the attainment of certain performance 
conditions and continuous employment until after the release of the fiscal year 2023 audited consolidated 
financial statements. During the year ended 30 June 2022, no performance rights were exercised, and no 
amount was recognised as it is too early to determine whether the performance conditions will be met. 

In August 2021, the Board granted an additional 406,000 performance rights to eligible employees. These 
performance rights have an exercise price of nil and will vest subject to the attainment of certain performance 
conditions and continuous employment until after the release of the fiscal year 2024 audited consolidated 
financial statements. During the year ended 30 June 2022, no performance rights were exercised, and no 
amount was recognised as it is too early to determine whether the performance conditions will be met. 

In August 2021, the Board also granted 100,000 performance rights to an eligible employee. The performance 
rights have an exercise price of nil and will vest subject to continuous employment until 30 June 2024.  During 
the year ended 30 June 2022, no performance rights were exercised, and an amount of approximately $29,000 
was recognized.  

Employee Share Options 
In August 2019, the Board granted 688,000 options to eligible employees. These options have an exercise price 
of $0.45 per option and vested on August 12, 2021. The Options expire on 30 June 2026. During the year ended 
30 June 2022, 402,000 options were exercised.  

In July 2020, the Board granted an additional 835,000 options to eligible employees. These options have an 
exercise price of $0.54 per option and will vest subject to the attainment of certain performance conditions 
and continuous employment until after the release of the fiscal year 2023 audited consolidated financial 
statements. The options expire on 30 June 2028. During the year ended 30 June 2022, no options were 
exercised, and no amount was recognised as it is too early to determine whether the performance conditions 
will be met. 
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SHARE HOLDINGS 
The numbers of Company ordinary shares held during the financial year by each Director of Adacel 
Technologies Limited and other Company key management personnel, including their personally related 
parties, are set out below.  

2022 
 

 

Name 
Balance at the 

start of the year 

Granted during 
the year as 

remuneration 

Received during 
the year on the 

exercise of rights 
& options 

Acquisitions 
during the 

year 

Disposals 
during the 

year 

Change as a 
KMP during 

the year 

Balance at 
the end of 

the year 

Directors of Adacel Technologies limited 

Michael 
McConnell 

1,227,778 - - 22,222 - - 1,250,000 

Natalya 
Jurcheshin  

- - - - - - - 

Peter Landos - - - - - - - 

Silvio Salom  5,195,191 - - -   5,195,191 

Other key management personnel of the group 

Daniel Verret 94,000 - 625,000 - - - 719,000 

Kevin Pickett 94,000 - 158,000 - (80,000) - 172,000 

Michael 
Saunders* 

- - - - - - - 

2021 
 

 

Name 
Balance at the 

start of the year 

Granted 
during the 

year as 
remuneration 

Received 
during 

the year 
on the 

exercise 
of options 

Acquisitions 
during the year 

Disposals 
during 

the year 

Change 
as a KMP 

during 
the year 

Balance at the end 
of the year 

Directors of Adacel Technologies limited 

Michael 
McConnell 

630,000 277,778 - 320,000 - - 1,227,778 

Natalya 
Jurcheshin  

- 
- - - - - - 

Peter Landos - - - - - - - 

Silvio Salom  5,195,191 - - -   5,195,191 

Other key management personnel of the group 

Daniel Verret 94,000 - - - - - 94,000 

Kevin Pickett 94,000 - - - - - 94,000 

Michael 
Saunders* 

- - - - - - - 

*Michael Saunders joined Adacel on 3 May 2021. 
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LOANS TO DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 

During the financial year, no loans were made, guaranteed or secured by Adacel Technologies Limited or any 
of its subsidiaries to any Director of Adacel Technologies Limited or any of the specified executives of the Group, 
including their personally related entities. No loans are outstanding as at 30 June 2022 (FY2021: nil). 

INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS AND INDEMNITIES 
During the year, the Company paid a premium for a Directors and Officers Liability Insurance Policy. This policy 
covers Directors and Officers of the Company and the consolidated entity. In accordance with normal 
commercial practices under the terms of the insurance contracts, the nature of the liabilities insured against, 
and the amount of the premiums are confidential. 
 
The Company has agreed to indemnify their auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, to the extent permitted by 
law, against any claim by a third party arising from the Company’s breach of their agreement. The indemnity 
stipulates that Adacel Technologies Limited will meet the full amount of any such liabilities including a 
reasonable amount of legal costs.  

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY  
No person has made any application under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001. 

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 
The Company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties 
where the auditor's expertise and experience with the Company and/or the consolidated entity are important. 

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor (PricewaterhouseCoopers) for non-audit services 
provided during the year are set out below. 

The Board of Directors has considered the position and, in accordance with the advice received from the Audit 
Committee, is satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of 
independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The directors are satisfied that the provision 
of non-audit services by the auditor, as set out below, did not compromise the auditor independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons: 

• all non-audit services have been reviewed by the Audit Committee to ensure they do not impact the 
impartiality and objectivity of the auditor; and 
 

• none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in 
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, including reviewing or auditing the auditor's 
own work, acting in a management or a decision-making capacity for the Company, acting as  

• advocate for the Company or jointly sharing economic risk and rewards. 
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During the year, the following non-audit fees were paid or are payable for services provided by the auditor of 
the parent entity and its related practices: 

           Consolidated 

 2022 2021 

Taxation services   

     PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm   

           Tax compliance services 9,585 7,153 

 9,585 7,153 

    Related practices of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm   

           Tax compliance services 7,983 92,451 

           Tax consulting services 1,365 13,188 

      9,348 105,639 

   

  Other Consulting Services  17,121 55,386 

   

   Total remuneration for taxation services 36,054 168,178 
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AUDITORS’ INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration, as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, 
is set out on page 30. 

ROUNDING 
The amounts contained in this report and in the financial report have been rounded off to the nearest 
thousand dollars, or in some cases to the nearest dollar, under the relief available to the company under 
Australian Securities & Investment Commission Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) 
Instrument 2016/191. The Company is an entity to which this Instrument applies. 

AUDITOR 
PricewaterhouseCoopers continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
In recognising the need for the highest standards of corporate behaviour and accountability, the Directors of 
Adacel Technologies Limited support and have adhered to the principles of corporate governance. The 
Company's corporate governance statement is available on the company’s website as indicated on page 89. 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

      

 
Michael McConnell   Natalya Jurcheshin 
Chairman    Director  

Melbourne, 24 August 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757 
2 Riverside Quay, SOUTHBANK  VIC  3006, GPO Box 1331, MELBOURNE  VIC  3001 
T: 61 3 8603 1000, F: 61 3 8603 1999, www.pwc.com.au 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

As lead auditor for the audit of Adacel Technologies Limited for the year ended 30 June 2022, I 
declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:  

(a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit; and 

(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

This declaration is in respect of Adacel Technologies Limited and the entities it controlled during the 
period. 

  

Matthew Probert Melbourne 
Partner 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
  

24 August 2022 
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This financial report is for the consolidated entity consisting of Adacel Technologies Limited and its 

subsidiaries. The financial report is presented in the United States currency. 

Adacel Technologies Limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its 

registered office and principal place of business is: 

Adacel Technologies Limited 

Unit 29  

3 Westside Avenue 

PORT MELBOURNE   VIC   3207 

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s operations, its principal activities and review of 

operations is included in the directors’ report on pages 2 to 16, which does not form part of this financial

report. 

The financial report was authorised for issue by the directors on 24 August 2022. The Company has the 

power to amend and reissue the financial report. 

Through the use of the internet, we have ensured that our corporate reporting is timely, complete, and 

available globally at minimum cost to the Company. All press releases, financial reports and other 

information are available at our Shareholders’ Centre on our website: www.adacel.com. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

For the year ended 30 June 2022 (in US Dollars)    

    

 Notes               Consolidated               
    
  2022 2021* 
  $’000 $’000 

    
Revenue from contracts with customers 5 27,560 30,010 
    
Interest income 6 - 5 
Other income 6 2,780 2,953 
    
Net foreign exchange loss  (82) (468) 
Materials and consumables  (3,063) (4,887) 
Labour expense  (18,326) (18,531) 
Depreciation and amortisation expense  (1,509) (1,364) 
Acquisition & integration costs 7 (428) - 
Finance costs  (197) (239) 
All other expenses  (1,556) (1,737) 

Profit before tax  5,179 5,742 
    
Income tax expense 8 (1,917) (242) 

Profit from continuing operations, net of tax  3,262 5,500 

    
    
    
Other comprehensive income 
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss: 

   

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 25 (760) 1,364 

Total other comprehensive (loss) / income, net of tax  (760) 1,364 

Total comprehensive income for the year  2,502 6,864 

    
    
Profit for the year is attributable to:    

Owners of Adacel Technologies Limited  3,262 5,500 

    
Total comprehensive income for the year is attributable to:    

Owners of Adacel Technologies Limited  2,502 6,864 

    
    
    
    
    

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the ordinary equity 

holders of the Company: 

 Cents Cents 

    

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 35 4.27 7.20 
Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 35 4.26 7.14 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 

notes. 

*Recasted for changes in presentation currency (see note 1 (ad))  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

As at 30 June 2022 (in US Dollars)   Consolidated                       

     

 Notes                 30 June 30 June 1 July 

  2022 2021* 2020* 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 

     

Current assets     

Cash and cash equivalents  9 1,898 8,719 3,553 

Trade and other receivables 10 8,341 5,059 7,572 

Accrued revenue 10 3,277 4,297 2,900 

WIP and Inventories 11 1,038 407 909 

Tax receivable 8 1,803 1,803 - 

Other financial assets 13 38 38 38 

Total current assets  16,395 20,323 14,972 

     

Non-current assets     

Property, plant and equipment  15 551 561 518 

Intangible assets 16 4,475 1,453 809 

Right-of-use assets 17 3,352 4,291 4,718 

Tax receivable 8 - - 1,803 

Deferred tax asset 18 2,218 3,323 3,096 

Other financial assets 14 47 36 35 

Total non-current assets  10,643 9,664 10,979 

     

Total assets  27,038 29,987 25,951 

     

Current liabilities     

Trade and other payables 19 2,941 3,379 4,129 

Advance payments from customers  2,841 3,080 3,031 

Current tax liabilities  1,025 485 979 

Provisions 21 1,676 2,068 1,604 

Lease liabilities 17 893 1,036 965 

Total current liabilities  9,376 10,048 10,708 

     

Non-current liabilities     

Lease liabilities 17 2,999 3,818 4,226 

Deferred tax liability 18 775 647 523 

Borrowings 23 - 770 - 

Total non-current liabilities  3,774 5,235 4,749 

     

Total liabilities  13,150 15,283 15,457 

     

Net assets  13,888 14,704 10,494 

     

Equity     

Contributed equity 24 53,292 53,115 53,571 

Reserves 25 (6,039) (5,114) (6,724) 

Accumulated losses 25 (33,365) (33,297) (36,353) 

Total equity  13,888 14,704 10,494 

 

 

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

*Recasted for changes in presentation currency (see note 1 (ad)) 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

For the year ended 30 June 2022 (in US Dollars)     

  Attributable to the owners of 

 Adacel Technologies Limited 

 

  Contributed 
Equity           

 

Reserves Accumulated 
Losses 

 

Total     
Equity  

 Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 

Balance at 1 July 2020*  53,571 (6,724) (36,353) 10,494 

      

Profit for the year  - - 5,500 5,500 

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 25 - 1,364 - 1,364 

Total comprehensive income for the year  - 1,364 5,500 6,864 

 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners: 

    

Share buyback equity reductions 24 (571) - - (571) 

Issue of ordinary shares 24 115 - - 115 

Employee share schemes – value of employee services 36 - 246 - 246 

Dividends provided for or paid 26 - - (2,444) (2,444) 

  (456) 246 (2,444) (2,654) 

      

Balance at 30 June 2021*  53,115 (5,114) (33,297) 14,704 

      

      

Balance at 1 July 2021  53,115 (5,114) (33,297) 14,704 

      

Profit for the year  - - 3,262 3,262 

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 25 - (760) - (760) 

Total comprehensive income for the year  - (760) 3,262 2,502 

      

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:      

Share buyback equity reductions    24 (153) - - (153) 

Exercise of performance rights and options 24 330 - - 330 

Employee share schemes – value of employee services 36 - (165) - (165) 

Dividends provided for or paid 26 - - (3,330) (3,330) 

  177 (165) (3,330) (3,318) 

      

Balance at 30 June 2022  53,292 (6,039) (33,365) 13,888 

 

 

 

 

 

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 

*Recasted for changes in presentation currency (see note 1 (ad)) 



Adacel Technologies Limited Annual Report 2022     

Page | 35 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS   

For the year ended 30 June 2022 (in US Dollars)   

 Notes              Consolidated              

  2022 2021* 

  $’000 $’000 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST)  26,275 33,182 

Receipts from government grants  689 1,720 

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST)  (25,135) (26,072) 

Payments for research and development expenditure (inclusive of GST)  (145) (233) 

Refund of security deposits  11 - 

Payments for security deposits  (23) - 

  1,672 8,597 

    

Interest received  - 5 

Income tax paid  (63) (782) 

Tax credits refunded  - 1,360 

Finance costs  (197) (239) 

Net cash inflow from operating activities 32 1,412 8,941 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Payments for property, plant and equipment  (267) (328) 

Payments for intellectual property and developments costs  (3,697) (764) 

Net cash outflow from investing activities  (3,964) (1,092) 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Dividend paid 26 (3,330) (2,444) 

Exercise of stock options  135 - 

Principal elements of lease payments 17 (840) (784) 

Proceeds from borrowing 23 - 770 

Shares repurchased through on market buy-back 24 (153) (571) 

Net cash outflow from financing activities  (4,188) (3,029) 

 

 

 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

  

 

 

(6,740) 

 

 

 

4,820 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 9 8,719 3,553 

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (81) 346 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 9 1,898 8,719 

    

    

 

 

 

 

 

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

*Recasted for changes in presentation currency (see note 1 (ad))  
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements 

are set out below.  These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 

otherwise stated.  The financial statements are for the consolidated entity consisting of Adacel 

Technologies Limited and its subsidiaries.  

(a) Basis of preparation 

This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 

Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations 

Act 2001. Adacel Technologies Limited is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial 

statements. 

Compliance with IFRS 

The consolidated financial statements of Adacel Technologies Limited also comply with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 

(the financial statements). These financial statements have been approved by the Board on August 24, 

2022. 

Early adoption of standards 

Adacel Technologies Limited does not intend to adopt any new standards prior to the due date. 

Going concern basis of preparation 

This general purpose financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis following the directors’ 

consideration of the operating plans and budgets for the period of 12 months from the date of signing the 

financial statements, and the financing arrangements discussed in note 22. 

Historical cost convention 

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the 

revaluation of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 

Critical accounting estimates 

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.  It also 

requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Company’s accounting 

policies.  The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and 

estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 3. 

(b) Principles of consolidation 

Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Adacel 

Technologies Limited (“Company”, “parent entity”) as at 30 June 2022 and the results of all subsidiaries 

for the year then ended.  Adacel Technologies Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in this 

financial report as the Company or the consolidated entity. 

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Company has control. The Company controls an entity when 

the Company is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has 

the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are 

fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Company. They are deconsolidated 

from the date that control ceases. 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Company.  
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between companies that form 

part of the consolidated entity are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 

provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have 

been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Company. 

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated 

statement of financial position respectively. 

(c) Segment reporting 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 

operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources 

and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the CEO. The Company’s 

segments are consistent with the previous year. 

(d) Foreign currency translation 

(i) Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Company's entities are measured using the 

currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates ('the functional currency').  

The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States dollars. 

(ii) Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 

prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 

settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets 

and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.  

(iii) Company’s entities 

The results and financial position of all the Company entities (none of which has the currency of a 

hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are 

translated into the presentation currency as follows: 

● assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the 

date of that balance sheet; 

● income and expenses for each profit and loss are translated at average exchange rates (unless 

this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the 

transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the 

transactions); and 

● all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(e) Revenue recognition  

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as 

revenue are net of returns, trade allowances, duties and taxes paid. Revenue is derived from various 

products and services which are recognised when performance obligations are considered met. The 

method used is selected on the basis of that which best represents the nature of the contract and the 

performance obligations within each contract whereby different methods of recognition can be used 

across separate performance obligations within a single contract.  

Revenue from rendering of support and services (including field service support and Simcare 

maintenance) is recognised over a period of time depending upon contractual terms. For fixed price 

contracts, revenue is recognised on a straight line basis as the customer simultaneously receives and 

consumes the benefits provided by the performance obligation. 

For contracts that include time and materials invoicing, mainly based on hourly rates, revenue is 

recognised monthly based on the actual time and materials incurred to which the Company has a right to 

invoice. Customers are invoiced as per the contract on a monthly or weekly basis and consideration is 

payable when invoiced. 

Revenue from license sales of standard software products is recognised at a point in time when control 

has been transferred to the customer, usually only after the delivery and client acceptance of the 

products. These products are off-the-shelf and the customer does not have the ability to request specific 

tailoring. 

Revenue from system and license sales of software products is recognised over time in contracts that 
generally have multiple sites and where the customer can request a significant amount of tailoring. 
In these cases, the Company’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the 

Company and the Company generally has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to 

date. Revenue to be recognised is measured using the percentage of completion method, based on the 

actual labour costs incurred to the end of the reporting period as a proportion of the total labour costs 

expected to be provided over the life of the contract. Revenue is recognised at a point in time in the case 

where the contract requires the customer to provide acceptance before the Company can have a right to 

payment for performance completed, unless the Company has objective evidence that all criteria for 

acceptance is satisfied. 

The Company has a number of contracts that offer extended warranty terms to customers. The provision 

of extended warranty terms is considered a separate performance obligation. Revenue attributable to the 

extended warranties is recognized over time on a straight line basis. 

Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress toward completion are revised if circumstances 

change. Any resulting increases or decreases in estimated revenues or costs are reflected in profit or loss 

in the period in which the circumstances that give rise to the revision become known by management. 

Losses on contracts are recognised in full when identified. 

Typically, the Company has a right to invoice and receive payment based on the contractual terms with 

the customers. Payment received before control passes is recognised as an advance from customers. 

The amount of consideration does not contain a significant financing component as payment terms are 

usually less than one year.  
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield on 

the financial asset. 

Dividends are recognised as revenue when the right to receive payment is established. 

Research and Development (R&D) Tax Credits are recognised as other income in the period in which the 

related expenditures are incurred. An estimate is accrued based upon an analysis against the criteria in 

the related tax legislation and adjusted to the actual figure in subsequent periods once the tax return is 

completed.  

 (f) Government grants 

Grants from governments are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that 

the grant will be received and the Company will comply with all attached conditions.  

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the profit and loss as other income 

over the period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate. 

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment are included in non-current 

liabilities as deferred income and credited to the profit and loss on a straight-line basis over the expected 

lives of the related assets. 

Government grants received which contain a repayment clause are treated as a liability and measured 

using the amortised cost method. The liability is discounted using the implicit effective interest rate in the 

grant contract. The unwind of the discounting is included within finance expense. Where the repayment 

clause can be forgiven by the lender, the Company records the related grant once the lender has forgiven 

the repayment clause. 

(g) Acquisition and integration costs 

Acquisition and integration costs include, among others, the following costs, if and when incurred: 

• Transaction costs related to intellectual property (“IP”)/business acquisitions, successful or not; 

• Costs of integrating newly acquired IP/businesses following the date of acquisition. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(h) Income tax 

The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable 

income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax 

assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses and credits. 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted 

at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the subsidiaries and associates operate and 

generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect 

to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where 

appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 

between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial 

statements. Deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or 

liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects 

neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) 

that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to 

apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if 

there is convincing evidence that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary 

differences and losses. 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying 

amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the Company is able to control the 

timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in 

the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 

assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax 

assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends 

either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except where it relates to items recognised in 

other comprehensive income or directly in equity. If so, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive 

income or directly in equity, respectively. 

(i) Cash and cash equivalents 

For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, 

deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original 

maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 

subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts.  Bank overdrafts are shown as 

part of current liabilities on the balance sheet. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(j) Trade receivables and accrued revenue 

(i) Trade receivables 

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. Trade receivables payment terms are 

contained within the contract documents for each project and generally vary from between 30 to 60 days 

after the end of the month of invoice. They are presented as current assets unless collection is not 

expected for more than 12 months after the reporting date. 

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debtors, known to be uncollectible, 

are written off by reducing the carrying amount directly. In determining the recoverability of a trade or 

other receivable using the expected credit loss model, a risk analysis is performed by the Company 

considering the type and age of the outstanding receivables, the creditworthiness of the counterparty, 

contract provisions, letter of credit and timing of payment. The amount of the impairment allowance is the 

difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 

discounted at the original effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not 

discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial. 

The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss within other expenses. When a trade 

receivable for which an impairment allowance had been recognised becomes uncollectible in a 

subsequent period, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 

previously written off are credited against other expenses in profit or loss. 

(ii) Accrued revenue 

Accrued revenue represents revenue that has been recognised, but which has not been invoiced to the 

customer at the statement of financial position date. 

(k) Security deposits 

Security deposits are carried at the amounts paid to suppliers in relation to contract performance or the 

rental of offices.  Security deposits are refundable following successful performance of contractual 

obligations. 

(l) Inventories  

Works in progress is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  

Costs deferred to work in progress comprise direct materials and direct labour.  These costs are charged 

as expenses when the related revenue is recognised. 

(m) Investments and other financial assets 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 

not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities 

greater than 12 months after the reporting period, which are classified as non-current assets. Loans and 

receivables are included in trade and other receivables in the consolidated statement of financial position 

(note 10). Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(n) Derivatives and hedging activities 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are 

subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The accounting for 

subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging 

instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. 

Adacel does not enter into hedges for specific transactions, however, may utilise forward exchange 

contracts for currencies that it may deal in. It may also enter into contracts with customers where the 

payment currency is not the functional currency of each company, and therefore giving rise to an 

embedded derivative. The remeasurement of these derivatives at balance date gives rise to a gain or loss 

which is recognised immediately in profit and loss. 

(o) Fair Value Estimation 

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and 

measurement or for disclosure purposes. 

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables are assumed to 

approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by 

discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the 

Company for similar financial instruments. 

Details on how the fair value of financial instruments is determined are disclosed in note 2. 

(p) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes 

expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.  

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 

appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 

Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are 

charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income during the reporting period in which they 

are incurred. 

Depreciation on plant & equipment assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their 

cost, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives, as follows: 

Class of Fixed Assets   Depreciation Rate 

Leasehold improvements  5 - 10 years 

Furniture and fittings   4 - 8 years 

Computer Equipment   4 - 8 years 

 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 

reporting period. 

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 

amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These 

are included in profit and loss. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(q) Intangible assets 

(i) Goodwill 

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisitions of 

associates is included in investments in associates. Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested 

for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be 

impaired and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of 

an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold. 

(ii) Intellectual property 

Intellectual property (IP) is carried at cost and is amortised on a straight-line basis over the periods of the 

expected benefit.  The Board has established a process to review the value of the Company's intellectual 

property assets, on a timely basis, for recoverable amount assessment purposes. IP is being amortised 

between 5 and 10 years representing the expected benefit.  

(iii) Research and development 

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of obtaining new scientific or technical 

knowledge and understanding, is recognised in profit and loss as an expense when it is incurred. 

Expenditure on development activities, being the application of research findings or other knowledge to a 

plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products or services before the start of 

commercial production or use, is capitalised as internally developed intangibles if the product or service is 

technically and commercially feasible and adequate resources are available to complete development. 

The expenditure capitalised comprises all directly attributable costs, including costs of materials, services, 

direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Other development expenditure is recognised 

in profit and loss as an expense as incurred. Capitalised development expenditure is stated at cost less 

accumulated amortisation.  

Capitalised assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 

the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which 

the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an 

asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, 

assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are 

largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). 

Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffer an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of 

the impairment at the end of each reporting period. 

(iv) Software 

Software is carried at cost and is amortised on a straight-line basis over the periods of the expected 

benefit. Software is being amortised over 2 years, representing the expected benefit. 

 

 (r) Trade and other payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of 

the financial year, which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days after 

the month of recognition. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is 

not due within 12 months from the reporting date. They are recognised initially at their fair value and 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(s) Advance payments from customers  

Advance payments from customers represent amounts invoiced to customers in excess of the amount of 

revenue recognised on contracts. Services for these contracts will be rendered and revenue will be 

recognised in future periods. 

(t) Leases 

The Company leases various offices and equipment. Rental contracts are typically made for a fixed 

period of 3 to 10 years but may have extension options. Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset 

and a corresponding liability at the date at which the lease asset is available for use by the Company. 

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to 

profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 

balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the lease term on a 

straight-line basis.  

 

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities 

include the net present value of fixed payments. The lease payments are discounted using the lessee’s 

incremental borrowing rate. Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of the initial 

measurement of lease liability less any lease incentives received.  

 

(u) Onerous contracts 

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived from the 

contract are less than the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under that contract, and only after 

any impairment losses to assets dedicated to that contract have been recognised.  The provision 

recognised is based on the excess of the estimated cash flows to meet the unavoidable costs under the 

contract over the estimated cash flows to be received in relation to the contract, having regard to the risks 

of the activities relating to the contract.  The net estimated cash flows are discounted using market yields 

at balance date on national government guaranteed bonds with terms to maturity and currency that 

match, as closely as possible, the expected future payments, where the effect of discounting is material. 

 

(v) Provisions  

Provisions for legal claims and service warranties are recognised when the Company has a present legal 

or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be 

required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not 

recognised for future operating losses. 

For similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by 

considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an 

outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations is small. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required 

to settle the present obligation at the reporting date. The discount rate used to determine the present 

value reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. 

The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as an interest expense. 

  



Adacel Technologies Limited Annual Report 2022                                                      

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - 30 June 2022  

Page | 46 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(w) Employee benefits 

(i) Short-term obligations 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave, and long service leave 

are recognized in respect of employees' services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured 

at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for accumulating sick leave 

are recognized when the leave is taken and measured at the rates paid or payable. The liability for long 

service leave is recognized in the provision for employee benefits. All other short-term employee benefit 

obligations including annual leave are presented as payables. 

(ii) Other long-term employee benefit obligations 

These are liabilities for long service leave and annual leave which are not expected to be settled wholly 

within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employee renders the related service. They are 

therefore recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of 

expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the end of the 

reporting period. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of 

employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market 

yields at the end of the reporting period of corporate bonds with terms and currencies that match, as 

closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. Remeasurements as a result of experience 

adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised in profit and loss. 

The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position if the 

entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the 

reporting period, regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur. 

(iii) Superannuation 

Contributions are made by the consolidated entity to defined contribution employee superannuation funds 

and are charged as expenses when incurred.  Amounts outstanding at balance date are recognised in 

trade creditors. 

(iv) Share-based payments 

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Executive Share Option and 

Performance Rights Plan.  The fair value of options and performance rights granted under the Executive 

Share Option and Performance Rights Plan is recognised as an employee benefit expense with a 

corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair 

value of the options and performance rights granted and likelihood of achieving performance conditions. 

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified 

vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revises its estimates of the 

number of options and performance rights that are expected to vest. It recognizes the impact of the 

revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

The fair value at grant date is independently determined using the Black-Scholes Model, which takes into 

account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution (where material), the share price 

at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield, the risk-

free interest rate.  

 

(v) Bonus plans 

The Company recognises a liability where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has 

created a constructive obligation. 

(vi) Termination benefits 

Liabilities for termination benefits are recognised when a detailed plan for the terminations has been 

developed and a valid expectation has been raised in those employees affected that the terminations will 

be carried out.  The liabilities for termination benefits are recognised in other creditors unless the amount 

or timing of the payments is uncertain, in which case they are recognised as provisions. 

(vii) Employee benefit on-costs 

Employee benefit on-costs, including payroll tax, are recognised and included in the employee benefit 

liabilities and costs when the employment to which they relate has occurred. 

(x) Contributed equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 

deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares 

or options for the acquisition of a business are included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the 

purchase consideration. 

If the entity reacquires its own equity instruments, e.g. as a result of a share buy-back, those instruments 

are deducted from the equity and the associated shares are cancelled. No gain or loss is recognised in 

the profit or loss and the consideration paid including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of 

income taxes) is recognised directly in equity. 

 

(y) Earnings per share 

(i) Basic earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the 

Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average 

number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary 

shares issued during the year. 

(ii) Diluted earnings per share 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to 

take into account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive 

potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have 

been outstanding assuming their conversion. 

  



Adacel Technologies Limited Annual Report 2022                                                      

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - 30 June 2022  

Page | 48 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(z) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST 

incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of 

acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net 

amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables 

or payables in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or 

financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as 

operating cash flows. 

(aa) Parent entity financial information 

The financial information for the parent entity, Adacel Technologies Limited, disclosed in note 37, has 

been prepared on the same basis as the consolidated financial statements, except as set out below. 

Investments in controlled entities are carried in the Company’s financial statements at the lower of cost 

and recoverable amount. 

(ab) Rounding of amounts 

The Company is an entity to which relief is available under the Australian Securities & Investment 

Commission Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors Reports) Instrument 2016/191. The amounts 

contained in this financial report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, or in some cases 

to the nearest dollar. 

 

(ac) New accounting standards and interpretations 

(i) New and amended standards adopted by the Company 

The Company has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for their 

annual reporting period commencing 1 July 2021 

(a) AASB 2020-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Covid-19-Related Rent 

Concessions, and 

(b) AASB 2020-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Interest Rate Benchmark 

Reform - Phase 2 

 

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior 

periods and are not expected to significantly affect the current or future periods. 

 

(ii) Certain new accounting standards, amendments to accounting standards and interpretations 

have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2022 reporting periods and have not 

been early adopted by the Company. These standards, amendments or interpretations are not 

expected to have a material impact on the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on 

foreseeable future transactions. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(ad) Change in presentation currency 

The Company has elected to change its presentation currency from Australian dollars (“AUD”) to United 

States dollars (“USD”) effective 1 July 2021. Management is of the view that financial reporting in USD 

provides a more relevant presentation of the Company’s financial position in comparison to its peers. The 

change in presentation currency is a voluntary change which is accounted for retrospectively. For 

comparative purposes, the historical consolidated financial statements have been recast to USD using 

the procedures outlined below: 

• Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income and Cash Flows have been translated into USD 

using the monthly average foreign currency rates prevailing for the relevant periods. 

• Assets and liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position have been translated into 

USD at the closing foreign currency rates on the relevant balance sheet dates. 

• Equity in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and Consolidated Statement of Changes 

in Equity, including contributed equity, accumulated losses and reserves, have been translated into 

USD using historical rates. 

• Consolidated earnings per share and dividend disclosures have also been translated to USD to 

reflect the change in presentation currency.  

 

The Company has also presented an opening consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 July 

2020 which has been derived from the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 30 

June 2020. The Company’s consolidated financial statements are now presented in USD. All information 

in these consolidated financial statements is presented in USD unless otherwise specified.  
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks; market risks (including currency risk and 

interest rate risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Company's overall risk management program focuses 

on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 

financial performance of the Company. The Company may use derivative financial instruments such as 

foreign exchange contracts to manage certain risk exposures. The Company uses different methods to 

measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the 

case of interest rate, foreign exchange and other price risks, and aging analysis for credit risk. 

Risk management is carried out by the Chief Financial Officer, or equivalent, under policies approved by 

the Board of Directors. The Board provides principles for overall risk management, as well as other 

specific policy areas such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, use of derivative financial 

instruments and non-derivative financial instruments, and investment of excess liquidity. 

The consolidated entity holds the following financial instruments 

 

                Consolidated  

 30 June 

2022 

30 June 

2021* 

1 July 

2020* 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 1,898 8,719 3,553 

Trade receivables 4,410 2,958 5,243 

Accrued revenue 3,277 4,297 2,900 

Restricted term Deposit with Bank of Montreal (“BMO”) 38 38 38 

Security Deposits – Orlando, Hampton East and Tallin Offices 47 36 35 

 9,670 16,048 11,769 

Financial liabilities    

Trade and other payables 2,941 3,379 4,129 

Lease liabilities 3,892 4,854 5,191 

Government loan - 770 - 

 6,833 9,003 9,320 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

*Recasted for changes in presentation currency (see note 1 (ad))  
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(a) Market risk 

(i) Foreign exchange risk 

The consolidated entity operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from 

currency exposures primarily to the US Dollars, European Euro and the British Pound. 

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities 

denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. The entity exposed to such risk is 

Adacel Inc., the Company's Canadian entity, which has the Canadian Dollar as its denominated functional 

currency and operates in CAD, USD, EUR and GBP. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis and 

cash flow forecasting. To minimise the exposure, the Company manages the natural hedges that may 

exist and, when significant transactions with external customers or suppliers are conducted in currencies 

other than the functional currency, forward exchange contracts may be put into place to reduce the risk. 

The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the reporting date was as follows 

Values are shown in foreign 
currencies 

30 June 2022 30 June 2021* 

 USD EURO GBP USD EURO GBP 

 $’000 €’000 £’000 $’000 €’000 £’000 

       

Cash and cash equivalents 163 141 - 2,572 1,437 - 

Trade and other receivables 2,611 540 - 2,105 129 - 

Accrued revenues 669 (517) - 531 2,648 - 

Restricted term Deposit with 
Bank of Montreal (“BMO”) 

38 - - 38 - - 

Trade and other payables (122) 4 (69) (32) (19) (4) 

 

Sensitivity 

Based on the financial instruments held at 30 June 2022, had the US Dollars strengthened/weakened by 

10% against the CAD dollar, with all other variables held constant, the Company’s post tax profit for the 

year would have been $373,000 lower/$305,000 higher (in 2021*, the post-tax profit would have been 

$579,000 lower/$474,000 higher). 

 

Had the US Dollars strengthened/weakened by 10% against the EURO, with all other variables held 

constant, the Company’s post tax profit for the year would have been $20,000 lower/$16,000 higher (in 

2021*, the post-tax profit would have been $554,000 lower/$454,000 higher). 

Had the US Dollars strengthened/weakened by 10% against the GBP, with all other variables held 

constant, the Company’s post tax profit for the year would have been $9,000 lower/$8,000 higher (in 

2021*, the post-tax profit would have been $1,000 lower/$1,000 higher). 

Aside from the effect upon profit, there would be no further direct impact on equity resulting from this 

movement. 

 

 

*Recasted for changes in presentation currency (see note 1 (ad))  
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

(ii) Price risk 

The consolidated entity is not exposed to equity securities price risks since all investments are impaired 

and recorded at the impaired values. None of these impaired investments are in publicly traded equity 

vehicles. The consolidated entity is also not exposed to commodity price risk. 

(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 

The Company’s main interest rate risk arises on cash balances held and on its bank facility with the Royal 

Bank of Canada. 

Cash at bank and borrowings under the facility are subject to variable interest rates. Excess cash is 

placed in short-term deposit or high-interest earning accounts, which is also subject to interest rate risk. 

The Company monitors the movements in interest rates, but to date has not deemed it necessary or cost 

effective to use derivative financial instruments to manage such risk. As at the end of the reporting period, 

the Company had the following deposits and borrowings subject to interest rate variations. 

 Consolidated 

     30 June 2022     30 June 2021* 

 Weighted 
average interest 

rate 

Balance Weighted 
average interest 

rate 

Balance 

 % $’000 % $’000 
     

Cash at bank 0.00 1,898 0.00 8,719 
     

Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk 1,898  8,719 

 

Sensitivity 

The Company’s main interest rate risk arises from cash equivalents, loans and other receivables with 

variable interest rates. However, the impact of any anticipated movements in interest rates would not 

have a material impact on the results of the Company. See note 23 for information on the fair value of a 

loan. 

(b) Credit risk 

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents as well as credit exposures to customers, including 

outstanding receivables. An analysis of outstanding receivables is included in note 10. 

The Company has a significant concentration of risk due to having significant accounts receivable with 

US government or its related entities, however, due to the nature of this customer base, there is no 

significant exposure to credit risk. 

For banks and financial institutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum rating of ‘A’ are 

accepted. 

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference 

to external credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates. 

 

 

*Recasted for changes in presentation currency (see note 1 (ad))  
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

(c) Liquidity risk 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the 

availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close 

out market positions. The Company manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual 

cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Due to much of the 

business being project driven, the Chief Financial Officer aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping 

committed credit lines available with the Royal Bank of Canada. Surplus funds are generally only invested 

in short-term bank deposits to enable ready access to the funds as required. 

Financing arrangements 

The consolidated entity had access to undrawn borrowing facilities at the reporting date as disclosed in 

note 22. 

Maturities of financial instruments 

The tables below analyse the consolidated entity’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings 

based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts 

disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 

Company – At 30 June 2022 Less 
than 1 
year 

Between 
1 and 2 
years 

Between 
2 and 5 
years 

Greater 
than 5 
years 

Total 
contractual 
cash flows 

Carrying 
Amount 
(assets) 

/liabilities 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Trade and other payables 2,941 - - - 2,941 2,941 

Lease liabilities 875 591 1,718 1,240 4,424 3,892 

Total 3,816 591 1,718 1,240 7,365 6,833 

 

Company – At 30 June 2021* Less 
than 1 
year 

Between 
1 and 2 
years 

Between 
2 and 5 
years 

Greater 
than 5 
years 

Total 
contractual 
cash flows 

Carrying 
Amount 
(assets) 
/liabilities 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Trade and other payables 3,379 - - - 3,379 3,379 

Lease liabilities 1,018 894 1,791 1,870 5,573 4,854 

Government loan - 204 591 - 795 770 

Total 4,397 1,098 2,382 1,870 9,747 9,003 

 

Company – At 1 July 2020* Less 
than 1 
year 

Between 
1 and 2 
years 

Between 
2 and 5 
years 

Greater 
than 5 
years 

Total 
contractual 
cash flows 

Carrying 
Amount 
(assets) 
/liabilities 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Trade and other payables 4,129 - - - 4,129 4,129 

Lease liabilities 948 958 1,913 2,213 6,032 5,191 

Total 5,077 958 1,913 2,213 10,161 9,320 

 

The book value of the liabilities above approximates fair value. 

 

*Recasted for changes in presentation currency (see note 1 (ad))  
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

d) Fair value measurements 

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and 

measurement or for disclosure purposes. 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-

counter derivatives) would be determined using valuation techniques. The Company uses a variety of 

methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at the end of each 

reporting period. The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange 

market rates at the end of the reporting period. Fair value is established by reference to forward 

exchange rates quoted by specialist departments from financial institutions.  

Details about the Company’s use of financial instruments measured at fair value are further discussed in 

note 12. 
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 

factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Company makes estimates and assumptions 

concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related 

actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed 

below. 

Impact of global disruptions 

As at 30 June 2022, the Company performed an assessment of the impact of the uncertainties around the 

outbreak of the novel strain of the coronavirus, specifically identified as COVID-19 pandemic, as well as 

the supply chain and geo-political disruptions, on projects, assets and liabilities. This assessment, which 

required the use of significant judgements and estimates, had no material impact on the Company’s 

projects, assets and liabilities. Various forms of government support were received during the financial 

year as disclosed in note 6 and note 23. As an evolving risk, the duration and full financial and operational 

effects of the global disruptions are unknown, and accordingly estimates will continue to be reviewed 

during fiscal year 2023. 

Contract revenue recognised at balance date 

The Company reviews all contracts work in progress at the statement of financial position’s date to 

determine the percentage of completion based on the forecasted costs to complete the project. Costs and 

revenues are brought to account based on the outcomes of the review, in accordance with the accounting 

policy stated in note 1(e). The judgements can only be finally confirmed at the point of completion of the 

contract and final delivery to the customer. This may result in differences between the revenue recognised 

at the statement of financial position’s date and the amounts that are subsequently determined to be 

applicable. Any such differences are brought to account at the next contract review cycle. 

Income taxes 

The Company is subject to income taxes in Australia and jurisdictions where it has foreign operations. 

Significant judgement is required in determining the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are 

many transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the 

ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Company estimates its tax liabilities based on the Company's 

understanding of the tax law. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts 

that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax provisions in the 

period in which such determination is made. 

The Company recognises deferred tax assets relating to carried forward tax losses and tax credits to the 

extent that there is convincing evidence that there will be future taxable profits in the jurisdiction to which 

those losses and tax credits relate. The directors regularly monitor this matter in all companies. The 

directors have reassessed that there is enough convincing evidence of future taxable profits being 

available in Adacel Inc. to support the continuation of the recognition of a deferred tax asset. The deferred 

tax asset is reassessed and remeasured half yearly. 

Business Acquisition 

AASB 3 Business Combinations applies to a transaction or other event that meets the definition of a 

business combination. It further sets out an optional test (the concentration test) that permits a simplified 

assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. An entity may elect to 

apply, or not apply, the test. An entity may make such an election separately for each transaction or other 

event. The Company elected to apply the test to the acquisition of a virtual ATC tower solution during the 

current fiscal year, and subsequently recognized an intellectual property (IP) asset. The acquired IP and 

details of the transaction are provided in note 16. 
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

(a) Description of segments 

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports that are used to make 

strategic decisions. These reports are prepared by the CEO and reviewed by the Board monthly. The 

consolidated entity is organised on a global basis into these following segments: 

Systems – Includes all sales of complex systems and products covering operational control as well as 

simulation and training. This segment also includes all hardware and software upgrade sales. 

Services – Includes all aspects of support, field services and on-site technical services. 

Segment margin results are presented after the allocation of all direct project expenses, (labour, materials 

and other direct costs), as well as an allocation of costs from direct function areas such as engineering, 

testing and project management. Further costs from the indirect functions areas of HR, IT and Facilities 

are also allocated based upon direct labour heads. 

 

(b) Notes to and forming part of the segment information 

(i) Accounting policies 

Segment information is prepared in conformity with the accounting policies of the entity as disclosed in 

note 1 and the accounting standard AASB 8 Segment Reporting. Segment revenues and expenses are 

those that are directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion that can be allocated to the 

segment on a reasonable basis.  

 

(ii) Inter-segment transfers 

Segment revenues, expenses and results include transfers between segments. Such transfers are 

eliminated on consolidation. 

 

(iii) Significant Customers 

During the 2022 financial year, revenues of approximatively 58% have been derived from 2 external 

customers. These customers are in North America and Europe, and the amount of revenues from them 

during the year were approximately $12,200,000 and $3,900,000. In 2021*, 69% of revenues were from 3 

customers, individually amounting to $13,100,000, $4,300,000 and $3,100,000 respectively. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

*Recasted for changes in presentation currency (see note 1 (ad)) 
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
(c) Segment Information for the year ended 30 June 2022 
 
 
 

Notes Systems Services Total 

  2022 2021* 2022 2021* 2022 2021* 
  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  

 
Operations       

Total segment revenue 5 6,912 9,196 20,648 20,814 27,560 30,010 
        

Total segment margin  758 1,122 10,084 10,908 10,842 12,030 

        
Other income 6     2,780 2,953 
Interest income 6     - 5 
Net foreign exchange loss      (82) (468) 
R&D expenses      (535) (233) 
S&M expenses      (2,523) (2,286) 
G&A expenses      (3,562) (4,100) 
Other expenses      (35) (556) 
Depreciation & amortisation 7     (1,509) (1,364) 
Interest & finance charges 7     (197) (239) 
        

Profit before income tax      5,179 5,742 
        

Income Tax (Expense)     (1,917) (242) 
        

Profit for the Period      3,262 5,500 

 

Geographical Information 
The consolidated entity is required to provide the following geographical information in accordance with 
AASB 8. This geographical information is based upon the location of the operating entities of the 
Company. 
 
 

   USA  Canada      Australia Estonia    Total 

 2022 2021* 2022 2021* 2022 2021* 2022 2021* 2022 2021* 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000  

           

Total Segment Revenue 8,451 9,365 18,379 19,364 730 1,281 - - 27,560 30,010 

           

Total non-current assets 514 842 7,430 8,575 2,644 247 55 - 10,643 9,664 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

*Recasted for changes in presentation currency (see note 1 (ad))



Adacel Technologies Limited Annual Report 2022                                                      

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - 30 June 2022  

Page | 58 

5. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS  
             Consolidated 

  2022 2021* 

  $’000 $’000 

Sales revenue    

Sale of services and systems  27,560 30,010 

  27,560 30,010 

    

Timing of revenue recognition    

At a point in time  2,213 4,920 

Over time  25,347 25,090 

  27,560 30,010 

    

 

As of June 30, 2022, the unsatisfied performance obligation resulting from contracts with customers is 
approximately $19,293,000 (2021*: $14,658,000). Management expects that 73% of the unsatisfied 
contracts will be recognised as revenue during the next annual reporting period. The remaining 27% is 
expected to be recognised as revenue by fiscal year 2031.  

 

The Company also has a provision for onerous contracts. See note 21 for further information. 

 

    

6. OTHER INCOME   
             Consolidated 

  2022 2021* 

  $’000 $’000 

Other Income    

Quebec Tax Credits  1,631 1,047 

Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy (CEWS)  316 1,184 

Canada Emergency Rent Subsidy (CERS)  51 81 

CARES Act  - 595 

Paycheck Protection Program  777 - 

Other  5 46 

Interest Income  - 5 

  2,780 2,958 

 

The Company is eligible for tax credits of approximately $1,631,000 (2021*: $1,047,000) from the Quebec 

government for R&D, Multimedia and E-business schemes. These tax credits have been accrued after 

analysing the applicable criteria. They will be adjusted to the actual amount once the tax return has been 

submitted. During fiscal year 2022, the Company was eligible for a grant of approximately $503,000 

under the CEWS program (2021*: $1,230,000) and approximately $51,000 under the CERS program 

(2021*: $81,000). The Company was eligible for government assistance of $Nil under the Coronavirus 

Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) in the United States (2021*: $595,000). The 

Company also received a Paycheck Protection Program in the United States, for which approximately 

$777,000 was forgiven and recognized in Other Income in 2022 (2021*: $Nil). See note 23 for further 

information.  

      

*Recasted for changes in presentation currency (see note 1 (ad)) 
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7. EXPENSES   

 
(a) Material profit or loss items 
 
The Company has identified a number of items which are material due to the significance of their 
nature and/or amount. These are listed separately here to provide a better understanding of the 
financial performance of the Company.  

          
             Consolidated 

  2022 2021* 

  $’000 $’000 

    

Profit before income tax includes the following specific expenses:   

    

Depreciation of property, plant & equipment:    

Leasehold improvements  16 100 

Furniture, fittings and equipment   280 215 

Total depreciation  296 315 

    

Amortisation of Intangibles assets  376 222 

Depreciation of Right-of-use assets  837 827 

Interest and finance charges paid/payable  197 239 

Legal fees and settlements  (36) 243 

Net foreign exchange losses  82 468 

Defined contribution superannuation expense  1,057 971 

Onerous contract (note 21)  (265) 158 

Research and development (inclusive of labour)  535 233 

    

    

(b) Acquisition and integration costs 

The Company has identified integration and acquisition costs, related to intellectual property ("IP"). 
Acquired IPs are listed in note 16. 

  

 

             Consolidated 

  2022 2021* 

  $’000 $’000 

Professional services  189 - 

Travel & other costs  239 - 

  428 - 

 

 

 

 

 

*Recasted for changes in presentation currency (see note 1 (ad))  
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8. INCOME TAX                       Consolidated 

  2022 2021* 

  $’000 $’000 

(a) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax 
payable 

  

Profit from continuing operations before income tax expense 5,179 5,742 

Income tax calculated at the effective tax rate  1,293 1,493 

    

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income:  

     Canadian Federal income tax credits  (687) (986) 

     Other items (net)  (189) (208) 

    

Current year temporary differences brought to account  15 402 

Current year tax losses not brought to account  128 143 

Utilisation of previously unbooked tax losses and tax credits  - (157) 

Recognition of previously unbooked tax losses  (182) (407) 

Variation of future income tax  589 - 

Reversal of previously booked tax credits  563 - 

Income tax under provided in prior years  37 235 

Withholding tax on overseas remittances  161 5 

Other Items  189 (278) 

Income tax expense  1,917 242 

    

(b) Income tax expense    

Current tax expense  744 630 

Deferred tax expense  1,140 6 

Adjustments for current tax of prior periods  33 (394) 

  1,917 242 

Income tax expense is wholly attributable to continuing operations 

    

(c) Estimated unrecognised tax losses and tax credits   

Australia – tax losses 27,205 29,607 

Canada – Federal tax credits 36,205 41,687 

United States – tax losses 1,405 1,405 

Total gross tax losses and credits 64,815 72,699 

Potential tax benefit at applicable tax rates**  13,931 15,474 

    

(d) Estimated unrecognised temporary differences   

Temporary differences for which no deferred tax asset has been 
recognised 149  163 

Potential tax benefit at applicable tax rates**  45 49 

    

 

   

** Effective tax rates applicable are: Australia: 30%, Canada Federal: 15%, Canada Provincial 11.5%, 
USA: 24.14%. 

*Recasted for changes in presentation currency (see note 1 (ad)) 
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8. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 

On March 27, 2020, the CARES Act was enacted to address the economic impact of the COVID-19 

pandemic in the United States. Among other things, the CARES Act allows a five-year carryback period 

for tax losses generated in 2019 through 2021. As a result, an income tax benefit of approximately 

$1,800,000 was recorded in 2020 in connection with a tax loss generated during fiscal year 2020 that the 

CARES Act will now allow to be carried back to 2015, a tax year when the U.S. federal income tax rate 

was 35%. There is no income tax benefit for fiscal year 2022. This amount has been recognised as a 

receivable at 30 June 2022 and as at 30 June 2021. 

 

9. CURRENT ASSETS - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

     

                 Consolidated 

  30 June 

2022 

30 June 

2021* 

1 July 

2020* 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 

Cash at bank and in hand  1,898 8,719 3,553 

  1,898 8,719 3,553 

     

(a) Reconciliation to cash at the end of the year    

The above figures are reconciled to cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the consolidated 
statement of cash flows as follows: 

     

Balances as above  1,898 8,719 3,553 

Balances per statement of cash flows  1,898 8,719 3,553 

     

(b) Cash at bank and in hand     

Cash at bank is interest bearing at rates of 0.0% to 1.0% (2021: 0.0% to 1.0%; 2020: 0.0% to 1.0%). 
Cash at bank is mainly at call but is invested in term deposits with maturity of 3 months or less from date 
of acquisition where possible. 

 

(c) Interest rate risk exposure 

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk is discussed in note 2. 

 

10. CURRENT ASSETS – TRADE, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 

ACCRUED REVENUE        Consolidated 

 

  30 June 

2022 

30 June 

2021* 

1 July 

2020* 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 

     

Trade receivables  4,410 2,958 5,243 

Sundry debtors   397 218 1,137 

Provincial tax credits  2,975 1,422 889 

Prepayments  559 461 303 

  8,341 5,059 7,572 

 
 
*Recasted for changes in presentation currency (see note 1 (ad)) 
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10. CURRENT ASSETS – TRADE, OTHER 

RECEIVABLES AND ACCRUED REVENUE 

(CONTINUED) 

 

Accrued revenue 

  

 

 

 

3,277 

 

 

 

 

4,297 

 

 

 

 

2,900 

  3,277 4,297 2,900 

 

(a) Past due but not impaired 

As of 30 June 2022, trade receivables of approximately $1,772,000 (2021*: $877,000; 2020*: 
$1,739,000) were past due but not impaired. Whilst these amounts are past due, dialogue continues with 
these customers and payment is expected to be received in full.  

       Consolidated 

  30 June 

2022 

30 June 

2021* 

1 July 

2020* 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 

     

Up to 3 months  1,034 758 1,205 

3 to 6 months  58 6 224 

Over 6 months  680 113 310 

  1,772 877 1,739 

 

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past 
due. Based on the credit history of these other classes, it is expected that these amounts will be received 
when due. The Company does not hold any collateral in relation to these receivables. 

 

(b) Foreign exchange and interest rate risk 

Information about the Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk and interest rate risk in relation to 
trade and other receivables is provided in note 2. 

 

(c) Fair value and credit risk 

Due to the short-term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their 
fair value. 
 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of each class of 
receivables mentioned above. Refer to note 2 for more information on the risk management policy of the 
Company and the credit quality of the entity’s trade receivables. 

 

11. CURRENT ASSETS – WIP AND INVENTORIES       Consolidated 

  30 June 

2022 

30 June 

2021* 

1 July 

2020* 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 

Current     

Inventory  314 247 175 

Work-in-progress on contracts  724 160 734 

  1,038 407 909 

 

 

*Recasted for changes in presentation currency (see note 1 (ad))  
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12. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

(a) Risk exposures 

Information about the Company’s exposure to credit risk, foreign exchange and interest rate risk is 
provided in note 2. 

 

(b) Instruments used by the Company 

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Company entered into foreign currency forward contracts 
mainly manage the variability in the expected foreign currency exchange rate of the Canadian dollar 
against the US Dollars. 

 

(c) Fair Value Hierarchy 

AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the 
following fair value measurement hierarchy: 

a. quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1) 

b. inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (level 2), and 

c. inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 

inputs) (level 3). 

 

The following table presents the Company’s financial liabilities measured and recognised at fair value at 

30 June 2022: 

  2022 2021 

  $’000 $’000 

Financial Liabilities  Level 2 Level 2 

Foreign exchange forwards  10 - 

 

(d) Valuation techniques used to determine fair values 

The foreign currency forwards have been measured by using the present value of future cash flows 

based on the forward exchange rates at the balance sheet date. These have been classified with Trade 

and other payables. 

 

13. CURRENT ASSETS - OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS    Consolidated 

  30 June 

2022 

30 June 

2021* 

1 July 

2020* 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 

Restricted term Deposit with Bank of Montreal (“BMO”)  38 38 38 

 

The entity has a restricted term deposit with the BMO as security for a Bank Guarantee. 

 

14.  NON-CURRENT ASSETS - OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS    Consolidated 

  30 June 

2022 

30 June 

2021* 

1 July 

2020* 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 

Security Deposits – Orlando, Hampton East and Tallin 
Offices 

 47 36 35 

 

*Recasted for changes in presentation currency (see note 1 (ad))  
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15. NON-CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

                                       Consolidated 

 Furniture, fittings 
& equipment 

Leasehold 
improvements 

Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

At 1 July 2020*    

Cost 2,710 1,008 3,718 

Accumulated depreciation (2,320) (880) (3,200) 

Net book amount 390 128 518 

    

Year ended 30 June 2021*    

Opening net book value 390 128 518 

Additions 315 - 315 

Depreciation expense (215) (100) (315) 

Exchange differences 32 11 43 

Closing net book amount 522 39 561 

    

At 30 June 2021*    

Cost 3,159 1,097 4,256 

Accumulated depreciation (2,637) (1,058) (3,695) 

Net book amount 522 39 561 

    

Year ended 30 June 2022    

Opening net book value 522 39 561 

Additions 299 - 299 

Depreciation expense (280) (16) (296) 

Exchange differences (13) - (13) 

Closing net book amount 528 23 551 

    

At 30 June 2022    

Cost 3,371 1,060 4,431 

Accumulated depreciation (2,843) (1,037) (3,880) 

Net book amount 528 23 551 

 

 

 

 

 

 

*Recasted for changes in presentation currency (see note 1 (ad))  
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16. NON-CURRENT ASSETS – INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

                                       Consolidated 

  Core 
intellectual 

property 

Purchased 
intellectual 

property 

Internally 
generated 

software 

Goodwill Total 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

At 1 July 2020*       

Cost  10,642 1,153 248 1,719 13,762 

Accum amortisation & impairment  (10,395) (839) - (1,719) (12,953) 

Net book amount  247 314 248 - 809 

       

Year ended 30 June 2021*       

Opening net book value  247 314 248 - 809 

Additions  - - 766 - 766 

Amortisation expense   (116) (92) (14) - (222) 

Exchange differences  21 28 51 - 100 

Closing net book amount  152 250 1,051 - 1,453 

       

At 30 June 2021*       

Cost  11,711 1,267 1,065 1,888   15,931 

Accum amortisation & impairment  (11,559) (1,017) (14) (1,888) (14,478) 

Net book amount  152 250 1,051 - 1,453 

       

Year ended 30 June 2022       

Opening net book value  152 250 1,051 - 1,453 

Additions  - 2,709¹ 903 - 3,612 

Amortisation expense   (118) (142) (116) - (376) 

Exchange differences  (5) (151) (58) - (214) 

Closing net book amount  29 2,666 1,780 - 4,475 

       

At 30 June 2022       

Cost  11,048 3,748 1,911 1,760 18,467 

Accum amortisation & impairment  (11,019) (1,082) (131) (1,760) (13,992) 

Net book amount  29 2,666 1,780 - 4,475 

 

¹ On 23 February 2022, the Company announced the acquisition of the virtual ATC tower Intellectual 

Property (“IP”) from Cybernetica, an Estonian based entity, for cash consideration of approximately 

€2,500,000. The transaction closed on April 29, 2022. This tower is suitable for a variety of functional needs, 

including integration with existing or new air traffic management, communication, navigation, and 

surveillance systems. As at 30 June 2022, the net book amount of the Intellectual Property deriving from 

this acquisition is approximately $2,497,000. The IP has a remaining useful life of 9 years and 10 months, 

as it is being amortised on a 10-year useful life with a residual value of $Nil. 
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 

 The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases: 

                 Consolidated 

  30 June 

2022 

30 June 

2021* 

1 July 

2020* 

  $’000      $’000 $’000 

Right-of-use assets    

Buildings 3,310      4,212 4,609 

Equipment 32      56 77 

Vehicles  10      23 32 

  3,352      4,291 4,718 

          

Lease liabilities          

Current  893 1,036 965 

Non-current  2,999      3,818 4,226 

  3,892 4,854 5,191 

     

Additions of right-of-use assets    

Building 33 31 - 

Equipment - - - 

Vehicles - - - 

 33 31 - 

      

The statement of profit or loss shows the following amounts relating to leases: 

  Consolidated 

 30 June 

2022 

30 June 

2021* 

1 July 

2020* 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets    

Buildings (802) (792) (764) 

Equipment (23) (23) (22) 

Vehicles (12) (12) (2) 

 (837) (827) (788) 

Interest expense (197) (239) (267) 

    

The total cash outflow for leases in 2022 was approximately $1,037,000 (2021*: $1,023,000). 
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18. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been recognised in relation to unused tax credits and 
temporary differences to the extent that the directors are confident that future profits will be available 
in the same taxation jurisdiction to use them. 

 Consolidated 

 30 June 

2022 

30 June 

2021* 

1 July 

2020* 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Deferred tax assets comprise the following temporary 
differences attributable to:  

   

Unused tax credits brought to account 3,232 4,145 3,756 

Other items (131) 373 304 

Set off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off 
provisions 

(883) (1,195) (964) 

 2,218 3,323 3,096 

Deferred tax liabilities comprise the following 
temporary differences attributable to: 

   

Temporary difference on unused tax credits brought to 
account 

(857) (1,099) (995) 

Temporary difference on utilised Federal tax credits (178) (270) (213) 

Temporary difference on utilised Provincial tax credits (623) (473) (279) 

Set off of deferred tax assets pursuant to set-off 
provisions 

883 1,195 964 

 (775) (647) (523) 

    

Net amount of Deferred Tax Assets (Liabilities) 1,443 2,676 2,573 

    

Movement reconciliation   

Opening Balance 2,676 2,573 3,025 

(Charged) to tax expense (1,140) (164) (326) 

Credited / (Charged) to foreign currency translation 
reserve (93) 267 

 

(126) 

Closing Balance 1,443 2,676 2,573 
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19. CURRENT LIABILITIES – TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

      Consolidated 

 30 June 

2022 

30 June 

2021* 

1 July 

2020* 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

    

Trade payables 1,306 1,120 1,420 

Accrued expenses 1,635 2,259 2,709 

 2,941 3,379 4,129 
 

 

(a) Risk exposure 

Information about the Company’s exposure to foreign exchange risk is provided in note 2. 
 

 

20. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES - RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS                 

All employees from the Company are entitled to benefits from accumulated benefits superannuation 
plans on retirement, disability or death. Australian employees are covered by the Australian 
Government’s Superannuation Guarantee. Canadian employees are covered by a Deferred Profit 
Sharing Plan (DPSP) and the USA employees are covered by a 401k Plan. The expense recognised 
in relation to these defined contribution plans is disclosed in note 7. 

 

 

  21. LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS Consolidated 

 30 June 

2022 

30 June 

2021* 

1 July 

2020* 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Current    

Employee benefits – long service leave (b), (c) 78 187 62 

Annual leave payable (c) 1,250 1,256 996 

Service and contract performance warranties (a),(b) 190 101 311 

Customer contract provisions 158 524 235 

 1,676 2,068 1,604 

Non-Current    

Employee benefits – long service leave (b),(c) - - - 

 - - - 
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21. LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS (CONTINUED) 

 

(a) Service and contract performance warranties 

Provision is made for the estimated warranty claims in respect of contracts delivered which are still 
under warranty at balance date. These claims are expected to be settled in the next financial year. 
Management estimates the provision based on historical warranty claim information and any recent 
trends that may suggest future claims could differ from historical amounts. 

 

(b) Movements in provisions 

Movements in warranty and long service leave provisions during the financial year are set out below. 

      Warranty Long Service Leave 

             $’000                $’000 
    

Carrying amount at the beginning of the 
year 

Charged/(credited) to the profit and loss 

        -additional provisions recognised         

        -amounts used during the period 

 101 

 

 

315 

(221) 

186 

 

 

6 

(114) 

Foreign exchange impact   (5) - 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  190 78 

 

 

(c) Amounts not expected to be settled within the next 12 months 

The entire obligation for annual leave payable is presented as current, since the Company does not 
have an unconditional right to defer settlement. Similarly, the current provision for long service leave 
includes all unconditional entitlements where employees have completed the required period of service 
and also those where employees are entitled to pro-rata payments in certain circumstances. The entire 
amount is presented as current, since the Company does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement. 

 

However, based on past experience, the Company does not expect all employees to take their full 
amount of accrued annual leave and accrued long service leave nor require payment within the next 12 
months. The following amounts reflect leave that is not expected to be taken or paid within the next 12 
months. 

 

 Consolidated 

 30 June 

2022 

30 June 

2021* 

1 July 

2020* 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Annual leave obligation expected to be settled after 12 
months 

369 388 267 

Long service leave obligation expected to be settled after 12 
months 

78 187 62 

 447 575 329 
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22. FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS Consolidated 

 30 June 

2022 

30 June 

2021* 

1 July 

2020* 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

     

Bank facilities available     

Overdraft  2,029 2,285 2,328 
Guarantees  1,110 850 633 

Credit card  540 397 376 

  3,679 3,532 3,337 

     
Bank facilities used at balance date     
Overdraft  - - - 

Guarantees  1,110 850 633 

Credit card  67 64 8 

  1,177 914 641 

     
Bank facilities unused at balance date     

Overdraft  2,029 2,285 2,328 

Guarantees  - - - 
Credit card  473 333 368 

  2,502 2,618 2,696 

 

Adacel signed a facility agreement with the Royal Bank of Canada on 31 January 2020. The Bank has 
provided the Company a facility to address all of its requirements. The facility is governed by pre-
agreed covenants with the bank and is repayable on demand. The facility comprises: 

- A combined overdraft and guarantee facility of up to CAD $4,000,000. The guarantees are 
limited to CAD $2,000,000. 

- A Visa credit card facility to the value of CAD $175,000. 
 

The facility is secured by a deed of movable hypothec (mortgage) over the assets and undertakings of 
Adacel Inc (Canadian operating entity), with guarantees and subordination agreements from Adacel 
Systems Inc, Adacel Technologies Inc and Adacel Technologies Holding Inc. 

The Company also has American Express facilities. Adacel Inc has an approved limit of CAD$100,000 
and Adacel Systems Inc has an approved limit of USD $175,000. 

The directors have reviewed the size and terms of the facility and its continued availability. The 
directors are satisfied that the operating plans and budgets for the period of 12 months from the date of 
signing this financial report will provide sufficient cash flows, that together with the facility, will be 
adequate for the Company’s requirements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

*Recasted for changes in presentation currency (see note 1 (ad))  
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23. BORROWINGS               Consolidated 

  30 June 

2022 

30 June 

2021* 

1 July 

2020* 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 

Current   - - - 

Non-current  - 770 - 

  - 770 - 

 

On 13 April 2021, the Company received loan proceeds of approximately $770,000 under the Paycheck 

Protection Program (“PPP”). The PPP, established as part of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic 

Security Act (“CARES Act”), provides for loans to qualifying businesses for amounts up to 2.5 times of the 

average monthly payroll expenses of the qualifying business. The PPP Loan and accrued interest are 

forgivable after twenty-four weeks, as long as the borrower uses the loan proceeds for eligible purposes, 

including payroll, benefits, rent and utilities, and maintains its payroll levels. On March 7 2022, the 

Company received notice from Small Business Association ("SBA") that the PPP funds were used 

appropriately, and all amounts were fully forgiven. Consequently, as at 30 June 2022, the Company does 

not have any outstanding borrowings in relation to the Paycheck Protection Program administered by the 

SBA. 

Consolidated 

 
 

     30 June 
     2022 

    30 June 
     2021* 

     1 July 
2020* 

 Carrying 
amount 

Fair Value Carrying 
amount 

Fair Value Carrying 
amount 

Fair Value 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  

       

Paycheck Protection - - 770 774 - - 

       

       

The fair values of non-current borrowings are based on discounted cash flows using a current borrowing 

rate. They are classified as level 3 fair values in the fair value hierarchy due to the use of unobservable 

inputs, including own credit risk. 

 

Risk exposures 

Information about the Company’s exposure to interest rate and foreign currency changes is set out in 
note 2. 

  

 

 

 

 

*Recasted for changes in presentation currency (see note 1 (ad))  
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24. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 

                Consolidated 

  2022 2021* 

  $’000 $’000 

(a) Share capital    

Ordinary shares  53,292 53,115 

 
 
(b) Movements in ordinary share capital 

  

  Date   Details Number of Shares               $'000 
    

1 July 2020 Balance 76,437,342 53,571 

01 Jul 20 – 30 Jun 21 Share Buy Back (763,468) (571) 

01 Jul 20 – 30 Jun 21 Issue of ordinary shares (note 36) 277,778 115 

30 June 2021 Balance 75,951,652 53,115 
    

01 Jul 21 – 30 Jun 22 Exercise of stock options (note 36) 402,000 207 

01 Jul 21 – 30 Jun 22 Exercise of performance rights (note 36) 381,000 123 

01 Jul 21 – 30 Jun 22 Share Buy Back (312,827) (153) 

30 June 2022 Balance 76,421,825 53,292 

 

The Company bought an additional 77,234 ordinary shares during fiscal year 2021 for an average price 
of AUD $0.8725. These shares were cancelled in fiscal year 2022. 
 
 
(c) Share options  
At the end of the year there were 286,000 unissued ordinary shares under the Executive Share Option 
and Performance Rights Plan. 
 
 
(d) Terms and conditions of ordinary shares  
The ordinary shares of Adacel Technologies Limited have no par value. Ordinary shares have the right to 
receive dividends as declared and in the event of winding up the Company, to participate in the proceeds 
from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares held. 
Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the 
Company. 

 

(e) Terms and conditions of share options  
Staff Share Options 
The terms and conditions of the options issued under the Executive Share Option and Performance 
Rights Plan are disclosed in note 36. 
 
 

(f) Capital risk management 

The consolidated entity's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a 
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other 
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 

 

 

*Recasted for changes in presentation currency (see note 1 (ad))  
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25. RESERVES AND RETAINED PROFITS / ACCUMULATED 

LOSSES                   Consolidated 

  2022 2021* 
                        $’000 $’000 

(a) Accumulated losses    
Accumulated losses  (33,365) (33,297) 

    

Movements in accumulated losses were as follows:    
    

Balance at the beginning of the year  (33,297) (36,353) 

Net profit for the year  3,262 5,500 

Dividends provided for or paid  (3,330) (2,444) 

Balance at the end of the year  (33,365) (33,297) 

    

(b) Reserves    
Foreign currency translation reserve  (6,120) (5,360) 
Employee share schemes  81 246 

  (6,039) (5,114) 

 
(i) Nature and purpose of reserve 

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign controlled entities are taken to the foreign currency 
translation reserve, as described in note 1(d). The reserve is recognised in profit and loss when the net 
investment is disposed of. 
 
(ii) Movements in reserve 

   

    

Balance at the beginning of the year  (5,114) (6,724) 

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (760) 1,364 
Employee share schemes (165) 246 

Balance at the end of the year  (6,039) (5,114) 

    
 

 

26. DIVIDENDS 2022 2021* 

             $’000             $’000 
(a) Ordinary shares   

A final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2021 of AUD $0.0325 was 
paid during FY2022 (AUD $0.015). All dividends were paid in cash. 

 

(1,808) 

 

(810) 

An interim dividend of AUD $0.0275 was paid during FY2022 (AUD 
$0.0275 during FY 2021). All dividends were paid in cash. 

 

(1,522) (1,634)   

 (3,330) (2,444) 

   

(b) Dividends not recognised at the end of the reporting period   

In fiscal year 2022, a final dividend of AUD $0.0325 will be paid (AUD 
$0.0325 during FY2021). 1,802 1,854 

   

(c) Franking balance   

Adacel Technologies Limited and its Australian controlled entities have not paid Australian income tax.  
Accordingly there is a nil balance in the franking account of the Company. 

 

 

*Recasted for changes in presentation currency (see note 1 (ad))  
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27. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS 

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent 

entity, its related practices and non-related audit firms:           

      Consolidated 

 2022 2021* 

                    $                    $ 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia      

(a) Audit and other assurance services      

Audit and review of financial statements 39,536 35,875 

Total remuneration for audit and other assurance services 39,536 35,875 

      

(b) Taxation services      

Tax compliance services 9,585 7,153 

Tax consulting services - - 

Total remuneration for taxation services 9,585 7,153 

      

(c) Other services      

Consulting services    - - 

    - - 

      

Total for PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia 49,121 43,028 

      

Related firms of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia   

(a) Audit and other assurance services   

Audit and review of financial statements 242,691 218,273 

Total remuneration for audit and other assurance services 242,691 218,273 

      

(b) Taxation services      

Tax compliance services 7,983 92,451 

Tax consulting services 1,365 13,188 

Total remuneration for taxation services 9,348 105,639 

   

(c) Other services   

Consulting services 17,121 55,386 

 17,121 55,386 

   

Total for related firms of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia 269,160 379,298 

      

The Company’s policy is to employ PricewaterhouseCoopers on assignments additional to their statutory 

audit duties where PricewaterhouseCoopers’ expertise and experience with the Company are considered 

important. These assignments are principally tax compliance, tax advice and advice relating to changes to 

the accounting compliance regulations. It is the Company’s policy to seek competitive tenders for all 

major consulting projects. 

*Recasted for changes in presentation currency (see note 1 (ad)) 
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28. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES

Key management personnel compensation 

   Consolidated 

2022 2021* 

     $      $ 

Short-term employee benefits 1,120,949 904,664 

Post-employment benefits 88,785 312,124 

Termination benefits - - 

1,209,734 1,216,788 

The detailed remuneration disclosures can be found in sections A – C of the remuneration report on 

pages 18 to 23. 

29. CONTINGENCIES

As at 30 June 2022, the parent entity, Adacel Technologies Limited, will continue to provide financial 

support to subsidiaries that are in a net liability position. 

Guarantees of approximately $1,110,000 (2021*: $850,000) have been given to banks and customers in 

relation to contract warranty and performance. 

As at 30 June 2022, the Company has a dispute ongoing with a supplier over an amount of approximately 
A$500,000. Management and the directors believe that the supplier's request is not founded and intend to 
defend the Company's position. There is uncertainty as to the final amounts payable, if any.    

Other than the above, there are no other known contingent liabilities. 

*Recasted for changes in presentation currency (see note 1 (ad))
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30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

(a) Parent entity 

Adacel Technologies Limited, incorporated in Australia, is the ultimate parent entity. 

(b) Subsidiaries 

Interests in subsidiaries are disclosed in note 31. 

(c) Key management personnel 

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 28. 

(d) Transactions with related Parties 

During fiscal years 2022 and 2021, there were no transactions with related parties.  

(e) Terms and conditions 

All transactions between Adacel Technologies Limited and its controlled entities were made on normal 

commercial terms and conditions and at market rates, except that there are no fixed terms for the 

repayment of loans between the parties. The payables are all considered to be short-term and are 

expected to be repaid periodically. Therefore, no interest has been charged from June 2008 onwards. 

 

31. SUBSIDIARIES 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following 
subsidiaries in accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1(b). 

   Equity holding *  

 Country of Class of 2022 2021  

Name of entity incorporation shares % held % held  

Adacel Inc Canada Ordinary 100 100  

Adacel Technologies Holdings Inc USA Ordinary 100 100  

Adacel Technologies Inc USA Ordinary 100 100  

Adacel Systems Inc USA Ordinary 100 100  

Adacel Technical Services Inc USA Ordinary 100 100  

Adacel Limited UK Ordinary 100 100  

Adacel Technologies Estonia Estonia Ordinary 100 -  

 

* The proportion of ownership interest is equal to the proportion of voting power held. 
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32. RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT (LOSS) AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET CASH FLOW 

FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

     Consolidated 

  2022 2021* 

  $’000 $’000 

    

Operating profit from ordinary activities after income tax 3,262 5,500 

    

      Depreciation and amortisation  672 537 

      Depreciation of right-of-use assets  837 827 

      Other Income  (777) - 

      Performance rights expenses  30 246 

      Net foreign exchange differences  82 468 

    

Changes in assets and liabilities:    

      (Increase) / decrease in trade receivables and accrued revenue (682) 1,523 

      (Increase) / decrease in other receivables and other assets (1,816) 587 

      (Increase) / decrease in inventory / WIP  (654) 559 

      (Increase) in prepayments  (114) (137) 

Decrease / (increase) in deferred tax assets, liabilities, tax  
payable/receivable 

1,697 (386) 

      (Decrease) in trade and other payables  (704) (945) 

      (Decrease) / increase in employee benefits provisions  (55) 306 

      (Decrease) / increase in other provisions  (258) 28 

      (Decrease) in advanced payments from customers (108) (172) 

    

Net cash inflow from operating activities  1,412 8,941 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

*Recasted for changes in presentation currency (see note 1 (ad))  
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33. NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Non-cash investing and financing activities disclosed in other notes are: 

● Acquisition of right-of-use assets – note 17 

● Performance rights exercised under the ADA Executive Share Option and Performance Rights Plan. – 

note 36 

 

Net debt reconciliation 

 $’000 

Net debt as at 1 July 2020* (5,191) 

  

Cash flow 784 

Acquisition – leases (31) 

Foreign exchange adjustments (177) 

Other changes (239) 

Net debt as at 30 June 2021* (4,854) 

  

Cash flow 840 

Acquisition – leases (33) 

Foreign exchange adjustments 155 

Net debt as at 30 June 2022 (3,892) 

 

 

34. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 

There were no significant events after the balance sheet date. 
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35. EARNINGS PER SHARE       Consolidated 

    2022 2021* 

      

Basic earnings per share (cents per share)    4.27 7.20 

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share)   4.26 7.14 

     

(a) Reconciliations of earnings used in calculating earnings per share               Consolidated 

  2022 2021* 

    $’000 $’000 

Basic earnings per share      

Profit from continuing operations  3,262 5,500 

Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company used in 
calculating basic earnings per share 

 
3,262 5,500 

      

Diluted earnings per share      

Profit from continuing operations  3,262 5,500 

Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company used in 
calculating diluted earnings per share 

 
3,262 5,500 

 

    

(b) Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the 
denominator 

   Consolidated 

  2022 2021 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in 
calculating basic earnings per share 

  

76,410,018 

        

76,406,941 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary 
shares used as the denominator in calculating diluted earnings per share 

 

76,579,106 77,080,141 
 
 
(c) Information concerning the classification of securities 

Executive Share Option and Performance Rights Plan options and performance rights are considered to 
be potential ordinary shares and would be included in the determination of diluted earnings per share to 
the extent to which they are dilutive.  There were 286,000 outstanding options and performance rights at 
30 June 2022 (2021: 1,069,000), and hence have been included in the determination of basic earnings per 
share for this year. Details of options and performance rights are set out in note 36. 

 

 

(d) Conversions, calls, subscription or issues after 30 June 2022 

 

There are no current holders of option or performance rights certificates and therefore there has been no 
movement since 30 June 2022. 
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36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

  

a) Executive Share Option and Performance Rights Plan 

The ADA Executive Share Option and Performance Rights Plan was originally approved by 
shareholders at the November 2017 Annual General Meeting and subsequently re-approved by the 
shareholders (in accordance with ASX Listing Rule 7.2 and section 259A and section 260A 
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)) at the Annual General Meeting in November 2020. 

 

Performance Rights 

In August 2019, the Board granted 381,000 performance rights with an exercise price of nil. These 
performance rights vested on August 12, 2021 and were subsequently converted to fully paid ordinary 
shares in the Company on August 12, 2021. 

 

In July 2020, the Board granted an additional 361,000 performance rights to eligible employees. These 
performance rights have an exercise price of nil and will vest subject to the attainment of certain 
performance conditions and continuous employment until after the release of the fiscal year 2023 
audited consolidated financial statements. During the year ended 30 June 2022, no performance rights 
were exercised, and no amount was recognised as it is too early to determine whether the performance 
conditions will be met. 

 

In August 2021, the Board granted an additional 406,000 performance rights to eligible employees. 
These performance rights have an exercise price of nil and will vest subject to the attainment of certain 
performance conditions and continuous employment until after the release of the fiscal year 2024 
audited consolidated financial statements. During the year ended 30 June 2022, no performance rights 
were exercised, and no amount was recognised as it is too early to determine whether the performance 
conditions will be met. 

 

In August 2021, the Board also granted 100,000 performance rights to an eligible employee. The 
performance rights have an exercise price of nil and will vest subject to continuous employment until 30 
June 2024.  During the year ended 30 June 2022, no performance rights were exercised, and an 
amount of approximately $29,000 was recognized.  

 

 Employee Share Options 

In August 2019, the Board granted 688,000 options to eligible employees. These options have an 
exercise price of $0.455 per option and vested on August 12, 2021. The Options expire on 30 June 
2026. During the year ended 30 June 2022, 402,000 options were exercised.  

 

In July 2020, the Board granted an additional 835,000 options to eligible employees. These options 
have an exercise price of $0.54 per option and will vest subject to the attainment of certain performance 
conditions and continuous employment until after the release of the fiscal year 2023 audited 
consolidated financial statements. The options expire on 30 June 2028. During the year ended 30 June 
2022, no options were exercised, and no amount was recognised as it is too early to determine whether 
the performance conditions will be met. 

 

b) Other share-based payments 

 

At the November 2020 Annual General Meeting, shareholders approved the issue of $278,000 fully 
paid ordinary shares at AUD $0.54 for services provided by the Chairman during a transition period of 
executive management. The related expense of $115,000 was recorded in fiscal year 2020 and issues 
of securities have been recorded during the year ended 30 June 2021. 
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37. PARENT ENTITY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

   30 June 

2022 

30 June 

2021* 

1 July 

2020* 

(a) Summary financial information   $’000 $’000 $’000 

      

The individual financial statements for the parent entity show the following aggregate amounts: 

      

Balance Sheet      

Current Assets   417 386 3,987 
      

Total Assets   3,142 2,470 7,829 
      

Current Liabilities   1,075 708 3,366 
      

Total Liabilities   1,098 750 3,418 
      

Shareholder’s Equity      

Issued Capital   53,292 53,115 53,570 

Accumulated Losses   (48,519) (49,081) (46,164) 

Reserves   (2,729) (2,312) (2,996) 

Total Equity   2,044 1,722 4,410 
 

Profit (loss) for the year   3,892 (474) 261 
      

Total comprehensive income (loss)   3,640 (36) 119 
 

(b) Guarantees entered into by the parent entity 

There have been no guarantees entered into by the parent entity and therefore no liability has been 
recognised by the parent entity in relation to guarantees. 

(c) Contingent liabilities of the parent entity 

The parent entity did not have any contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2022 or 30 June 2021. For 
information about guarantees given by the parent entity, see (b) above. 

(d) Contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant or equipment. 

The parent entity did not have any material contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant or  

equipment as at 30 June 2022 or 30 June 2021. 
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DIRECTORS' DECLARATION 

In the Directors' opinion: 

a. the financial statements and notes set out on pages 31 to 81 are in accordance with the 

Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(i) complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other 

mandatory professional reporting requirements; and 

(ii) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 30 June 

2022 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and 

b. there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and 

when they become due and payable; and 

c. The remuneration disclosures set out on pages 17 to 28 of the directors' report comply with 

Accounting Standards AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and the Corporations Regulations 

2001. 

 

Note 1(a) confirms that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting 

Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

The Directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial 

Officer required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

 

 

Michael McConnell    Natalya Jurcheshin 

Chairman     Director 

 

Melbourne, 24 August 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757 
2 Riverside Quay, SOUTHBANK  VIC  3006, GPO Box 1331, MELBOURNE  VIC  3001 
T: 61 3 8603 1000, F: 61 3 8603 1999 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

 

To the members of Adacel Technologies Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Our opinion 

In our opinion: 

The accompanying financial report of Adacel Technologies Limited (the Company) and its controlled 
entities (together the Group) is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2022 and of its 
financial performance for the year then ended  

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

What we have audited 
The Group financial report comprises: 

 the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022 

 the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended 

 the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 

 the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended 

 the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information 

  

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the 
report section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Independence 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional & Ethical 

Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence 
Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 



 

 

Our audit approach 

An audit is designed to provide reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from 
material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if 
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial report. 

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an 
opinion on the financial report as a whole, taking into account the geographic and management 
structure of the Group, its accounting processes and controls and the industry in which it operates. 

The Group is a developer of advanced simulation training systems and air traffic management 
automation solutions for the military and civil sectors. The Group's operations and executive team are 

operating segments. The systems segment includes sale of advanced systems, technical software 
and hardware. The services segment includes development and support, and field technical services. 

 
Materiality Audit scope Key audit matters 

 For the purpose of our audit we used 
overall Group materiality of $0.28 
million, which represents 

revenue. 

 We applied this threshold, together 
with qualitative considerations, to 
determine the scope of our audit and 
the nature, timing and extent of our 
audit procedures and to evaluate the 
effect of misstatements on the 
financial report as a whole. 

 We chose Group revenue because, 
in our view, it is the measure that is 
most representative of the Group's 
operations. 

 We utilised a 1% threshold based on 
our professional judgement, noting it 
is within the range of commonly 
acceptable revenue related 
thresholds.  

 Our audit focused on 
where the Group made 
subjective judgements; for 
example, significant 
accounting estimates 
involving assumptions and 
inherently uncertain future 
events. 

      

 Amongst other relevant 
topics, we communicated 
the following key audit 
matters to the Audit and 
Risk Management 
Committee: 

 Revenue recognition 
 Recoverability of 

deferred tax assets 

 These are further described 
in the Key audit matters 
section of our report. 



 

 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial report for the current period. The key audit matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. Further, any commentary on the outcomes of a 
particular audit procedure is made in that context.  

Key audit matter  How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Revenue recognition 

Refer to note 1(e) Summary of significant accounting 
policies-Revenue recognition, note 5 Revenue from 
contracts with customers and note 10 Trade, Other 
receivables, Accrued revenue  

under contracts with customers. These projects are 
generally tailored applications developed for specific 
customers and are often completed across a number 
of months. 

Project based revenue is recognised over time under 
the percentage of completion method, as described in 

the nature and type of performance obligations in the 
contract and estimates of revenue and cost. 

When losses are forecast on contracts, these are 
recognised in the period they are identified. 

Invoicing and subsequent collection of these amounts 

completion and are sometimes delayed due to the 
nature of the projects and customers, resulting in 
accrued revenue balances. 

We considered this a key audit matter due to the: 
 financial significance of the trade and other 

receivables balance and the accrued 
revenue balance. 

 complexity involved in identifying 
performance obligations required by 
Australian Accounting Standards given the 
bespoke terms and conditions in, and long 
term nature, of contracts with customers. 

 judgement required by the Group in 
determining the timing of recognising project 
based revenue (refer above). 

 

 

 

 

We performed the following procedures, amongst 
others over revenue recognition: 

 
 Updated our understanding of the nature of 

the project based activities of the Group and 
terms of customer contracts. 

 Developed an understanding of relevant 
controls over recognition of project based 
revenue and assessed whether they were 
appropriately designed and whether a 
sample of these controls were operating 
effectively throughout the year. 

 
contracts and considered the 
appropriateness of significant judgements 
made related to its performance obligations 
under those contracts, in the determination 
of revenue recognition at either a point in 
time or over time against the requirements of 
Australian Accounting Standards. 

 Assessed revenue recognised for customer 
contracts by performing the following 
procedures amongst others: 

 Re-performing calculations over the 
mathematical accuracy of a sample of 
percentage of completion calculations. 

 Agreeing a sample of actual labour 
costs to approved timesheets and 
payroll records. 

 Agreeing a sample of accrued costs (for 
example contractor costs) to date to 
supporting evidence or calculations. 

 Comparing forecast costs to complete a 
project to the approved project budgets 
less the actual costs incurred to date. 

 On a sample basis, checking whether 
monthly management project status 
reviews were performed. 

 Compared actual and forecast contract 
profitability and enquired with management 
on a sample of projects where margins had 
deviated from forecasts.  



 

 

Key audit matter  How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

  Agreed a sample of significant accrued 
revenue and outstanding accounts 
receivable balances to cash receipts 
subsequent to year end and enquired with 
management on significant unpaid balances. 

 Evaluated the reasonableness of the 
disclosures made in note 1(e) and note 5 
against the requirements of Australian 
Accounting Standards. 
 

Recoverability of deferred tax assets 

Refer to note 8 Income tax and note 18 Deferred tax 
assets & liabilities 

The Group has unrecognised carry forward gross tax 
losses and tax credits amounting to $64.8 million as 
at 30 June 2022. These arise from different 
jurisdictions across the North American and 
Australian operations. While tax losses have no 
expiry date, Canadian Federal and Provincial tax 
credits expire after 10 years. The Group has 
assessed that there is convincing evidence of future 
taxable profits available in Canada sufficient to carry 
forward deferred tax assets of $2.2 million. 

Australian Accounting Standards require deferred tax 
assets to be recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that sufficient future taxable profits will be 
generated in order for the benefits of the deferred tax 
assets to be realised. These benefits are realised by 
reducing tax payable on future taxable profits. 

We considered this a key audit matter due to the 
significant judgement required by the Group in 
assessing the timing and quantum of future taxable 
profits. 

Together with PwC tax experts, we performed the 
following procedures amongst others: 

 Assessed the appropriateness of the 

assets in the context of the requirements of 
Australian Accounting Standards, 
considering the historical results and the 
appropriateness of significant assumptions 
used in the forecast results of the Group. 

 Re-performed calculations over the 
mathematical accuracy of deferred tax 
calculations. 

 Agreed tax rates used for deferred tax 
calculations to enacted or substantially 
enacted tax rates in each jurisdiction in 
which tax losses and tax credits existed. 

 Agreed available carry forward tax losses 

returns. 
 Compared the utilisation of deferred tax 

returns to the Board approved forecasts 
made in the prior year, to determine the 

 
 Evaluated the reasonableness of the 

disclosures made in note 8 and 18 against 
the requirements of Australian Accounting 
Standards. 

Other information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report for the year ended 30 June 2022, but does not include the 

 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 



In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of 

required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 

includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: 
https://www.auasb.gov.au/admin/file/content102/c3/ar1_2020.pdf. This description forms part of our 
auditor's report. 

Report on the remuneration report 

Our opinion on the remuneration report 

year ended 30 June 2022. 

In our opinion, the remuneration report of Adacel Technologies Limited for the year ended 30 June 
2022 complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 



Responsibilities

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
remuneration report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Matthew Probert Melbourne

Partner 24 August 2022
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ADDITIONAL SECURITIES EXCHANGE INFORMATION 

In accordance with ASX Listing Rule 4.10, the Company provides the following information to shareholders not 
elsewhere disclosed in this Annual Report. The information is current as at 29 July 2022 (Reporting Date). 

Corporate Governance Statement 
The Company has prepared a statement which sets out the corporate governance practices that were in 
operation throughout the financial year for the Company, identifies any Recommendations that have not been 
followed, and provides reasons for not following such Recommendations (Corporate Governance Statement).   

In accordance with ASX Listing Rules 4.10.3 and 4.7.4, the Corporate Governance Statement will be available 
for review on Adacel’s website (https://www.adacel.com/investors) and will be lodged together with an 
Appendix 4G with ASX at the same time that this Annual Report is lodged with ASX.  

Number of Holdings of Equity Securities 
As at the Reporting Date, the number of holders in each class of equity securities on issue in Adacel is as follows: 

Security Type No of Securities No of Shareholders 
Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 76,421,825 3,117 
Performance Rights 867,000 3 
Performance Options 1,121,000 2 

Voting Rights of Equity Securities 
The only class of equity securities on issue in the Company which carry voting rights is ordinary shares.  At a 
general meeting of the Company, every holder of ordinary shares present in person or by proxy, attorney or 
representative has one vote on a show of hands and on a poll, one vote for each ordinary share held. On a poll, 
every member (or his or her proxy, attorney or representative) is entitled to vote for each fully paid share held 
and in respect of each partly paid share, is entitled to a fraction of a vote equivalent to the proportion which 
the amount paid up on that partly paid share bears to the total amounts paid. Amounts paid in advance of a 
call or credited on a partly paid share without payment in money or money’s worth being made to the 
Company are ignored when calculating the proportion.  

Distribution of Holders of Ordinary Shares 

 Class of Equity Security 
Total Holders Units % Units 

1 - 1,000 942 529,344 0.69 

1,001 - 5,000 1,255 3,482,319 4.56 

5,001 - 10,000 428 3,393,944 4.44 

10,001 - 100,000 444 12,832,454 16.79 

100,001 Over 48 56,183,764 73.52 

Totals 3,117 76,421,825 100.00 



ADACEL TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED  //  ANNUAL REPORT 2022 

90 //  ADACEL ANNUAL REPORT  30 JUNE 2022 

Distribution of Holders of Performance Rights 

 Class of Performance Rights 
Total Holders Units % Units 

1 - 1,000 0 0 0 

1,001 - 5,000 0 0 0 

5,001 - 10,000 0 0 0 

10,001 - 100,000 0 0 0 

100,001 Over 3 867,000 100 

Totals 3 867,000 100.00 

Distribution of Holders of Performance Options

 Class of Performance Options 
Total Holders Units % Units 

1 - 1,000 0 0 0 

1,001 - 5,000 0 0 0 

5,001 - 10,000 0 0 0 

10,001 - 100,000 0 0 0 

100,001 Over 2 1,121,000 100 

Totals 2 1,121,000 100.00 

Unmarketable Parcels 
The number of holders of less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares as at the Reporting Date is as follows: 

Unmarketable Parcels as at 29 July 2022 Minimum Parcel Size Holders Units 

Minimum $500.00 parcel at $0.8700 per unit 575 489 137,386 

Substantial holders 
As at the Reporting Date, the names of the substantial holders of Adacel and the number of equity securities 
in which those substantial holders and their associates have a relevant interest, as disclosed in substantial 
holding notices given to Adacel, are as follows:  

Shareholder No. of Shares Held % of Issued Capital 

Thorney Holdings Proprietary Limited 25,542,818 33.42% 

Silvio Salom 5,861,858 7.40% 
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Twenty Largest Holders of Quoted Equity Securities 

The Company only has one class of quoted securities, being ordinary shares. The names of the 20 largest 
holders of ordinary shares, the number of ordinary shares and the percentage of capital held by each holder is 
as follows:  

Shareholder Name Shares Held % Held 
THORNEY HOLDINGS PTY LTD 24,597,118 32.19 

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 7,189,161 9.41 

MR SILVIO SALOM 4,230,026 5.54 

J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 3,184,161 4.17 

D & E SMITH SUPERANNUATION NOMINEES PTY LTD 2,225,665 2.91 

MR MICHAEL MCCONNELL 1,250,000 1.64 

OBENA RIDGE PTY LIMITED 1,062,276 1.39 

NEWECONOMY COM AU NOMINEES PTY LIMITED <900 
ACCOUNT> 

1,022,236 1.34 

MRS EMMA JANE GRACEY 1,000,000 1.31 

UBS NOMINEES PTY LTD 875,000 1.14 

COALWELL PTY LTD 796,182 1.04 

MORGAN STANLEY AUSTRALIA SECURITIES (NOMINEE) PTY 
LIMITED <NO 1 ACCOUNT> 

744,654 0.97 

MR DAVID WALLACE SMITH 726,257 0.95 

MR DANIEL VERRET 719,000 0.94 

MR JAMES DOUGLAS CARNEGIE <JAMES CARNEGIE FAMILY 
A/C> 

599,564 0.78 

WESTOR ASSET MANAGEMENT PTY LTD <VALUE PARTNERSHIP 
A/C> 

431,564 0.56 

IAN HARRISS SUPER PTY LTD <IAN HARRISS SUPER A/C> 378,074 0.49 

BISSAPP SOFTWARE PTY LTD <SUPER FUND ACCOUNT> 316,000 0.41 

MR MICHAEL MURRAY 274,470 0.36 

BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD <DRP> 221,604 0.29 

Total number of shares of Top 20 Holders 51,843,012 67.84 
Total Remaining Holders Balance 24,578,813 32.16 

Unquoted equity securities 

Performance Rights 867,000 
Options expiring various dates exercisable at various prices 1,121,000 
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Escrow 

Class of restricted 
securities 

Type of restriction Number of securities End date of escrow 
period 

Ordinary shares Voluntary escrow 0 NA 

Other Information 

The Company conducted on-market share buy-back starting from 11 January 2021 and ended on 10 January 
2022. 

A further on-market share buy-back was conducted from 11 January 2022 to 23 February 2022. No Shares were 
bought back during this period. 

The Company conducted a further on-market share buy-back starting from 17 March 2022 and ending on 16 
March 2023. 

There are no issues of securities approved for the purpose of Item 7 of Section 611 of the Corporations Act which 
have not yet been completed.  

No securities were purchased on-market during the reporting period under or for the purposes of an employee 
incentive scheme or to satisfy the entitlements of the holders of options or other rights to acquire securities 
granted under an employee incentive scheme.  
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CORPORATE DIRECTORY 
Adacel Technologies Limited 
ABN 15 079 672 281 

Registered Office 
Unit 29, 3 Westside Avenue,  
Port Melbourne Victoria Australia 3207 
Telephone +61 3 8530 7777 
www.adacel.com 

Principal Place of Business  
Unit 29, 3 Westside Avenue, 
Port Melbourne Victoria Australia 3207 
Telephone +61 3 8530 7777 

Board of Directors 
Michael McConnell (Non-Executive Chairman) 
Natalya Jurcheshin (Non-Executive Director)  
Peter Landos (Non-Executive Director)  
Silvio Salom (Non-Executive Director) 

Company Secretary 
Rebecca Weir 

Bank 
Royal Bank of Canada 
1 Place Ville Marie, 8th Floor, East Wing 
Montreal Quebec H3C 3A9 
Canada 

Solicitors – Australia  
Ashurst Australia  
Level 16 
80 Collins Street 
South Tower, Melbourne Victoria 3000 

Solicitors- USA 
Morrison Foerster 
425 Market Street 
San Francisco, CA  
94105-2482 

Auditor  
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
2 Riverside Quay 
Southbank Victoria 3006 
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Share Registry 
Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited 
Yarra Falls 
452 Johnston Street 
Abbotsford Victoria 3067 w 
essential.registry@computershare.com.au 
Phone No: 03 9415 5000 

Stock Exchange 
Australia Securities Exchange (ASX:ADA) 
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